
PLEASE ARRIVE 15 MINUTES EARLIER THAN YOUR SCHEDULED TIME

PRELIMINARY

8:30 CALL TO ORDER

QUORUM PRESENT

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 1‐7‐14

ACCEPTANCE OF BILLS  

Approval of County Vouchers/Warrants

Approval of Monthly Statements

Approval of Bonds

Approval of Abates/Rebates

PUBLICATION OF GROSS SALARIES, SWEETWATER COUNTY, WY

Approval of Newspaper Positions & Salaries, January 2014

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS/REPORTS

8:40 Commissioner Van Matre

8:50 Chairman Johnson

9:00 Commissioner West

9:10 Commissioner Bailiff

9:20 Commissioner Kolb

COUNTY RESIDENT CONCERNS

9:30

ACTION/PRESENTATION ITEMS 

9:40 Board Appointments  

1.  Combined Communications  Joint Powers Board

2.  Community Fine Arts Center

9:50 Letter of Support for Mental Health and Substance

Abuse Application for Services and Regional Support

9:55 Public Health Nursing (PHN) Contract Legislation

10:25 Elected Official Salary Increase Discussion

NOTICE‐  THE SWEETWATER COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

WILL MEET IN REGULAR SESSION ON TUESDAY, JANUARY 21, 2014 AT 8:30 A.M.

IN THE COMMISSIONERS MEETING ROOM

TENTATIVE AND SUBJECT TO CHANGE



10:35 Potential Budget Implication Due to Change to 

Payroll Processing

10:55 Overview of Proposed Ammonia Plant Project at the 

Simplot Phosphates Facility South of Rock Springs

11:05 A Resolution Authorizing the Appointment of a 

Special Prosecutor

11:10 Contract for Engineering Services‐Speed Limits on 

County Roads

11:15 Fiscal Year 2013 Audit Report

LUNCH

PLANNING & ZONING PUBLIC HEARING @ 1:30

1.  Snelson Companies, Inc./ Bruce K. Mandros

Conditional Use Permit

Temporary Construction Yard

2.  Robert Wayne Moses/ Ranch Hand Welding & Fabrication

Conditional Use Permit

Welding and Fabrication

ACTION/PRESENTATION ITEMS CONTINUED

1:40 School Bus Shelter at Indian Knolls

1:50 Release a Letter of Credit for Double J Subdivision

1:55 A Resolution to Appoint a Qualified Person to Fill

a Vacancy on the SWCO Emergency Planning

Committee

2:00 Mutual Aid Agreement between Teton, Lincoln,

Sublette, Fremont and Sweetwater County

2:05 Approval of the Fiscal Year 2013 Hazardous Materials

Emergency Planning Grant Agreement

2:10 Approval of the Fiscal Year 2012 Citizen Corps

Program (CCP) Grant Agreement



2:15 Approval of the Fiscal Year 2013 Emergency 

Management Performance Grant Agreement

2:25 A Resolution Approving Wyoming Downs, LLC to 

Conduct Pari‐Mutuel Wagering on Live Horse Racing,

Historic Horse Racing, and Simulcast Events within

Sweetwater County, Wy

2:55 Announcement and Request Regarding Acquisition of

Historic Photograph Collection

3:15 Senior Program Update for 2014 Goals & Concerns

OTHER  

3:35  

EXECUTIVE SESSION(S) AS NEEDED

Legal/Personnel

ADJOURN



January 7, 2014 

Green River, WY 

 

The Board of County Commissioners met this day at 8:30 a.m. in Regular Session with all commissioners 

present.  The meeting opened with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Approval of Agenda 

Commissioner West moved to approve the agenda.  Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  The 

motion carried.   

 

Approval of Minutes:  12-17-13 & 12-30-13 

Commissioner West moved to approve the minutes dated December 17, 2013.  Commissioner Kolb seconded 

the motion.  The motion carried. 

 

Commissioner Kolb moved to approve the minutes dated December 30, 2013.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded 

the motion.  The motion carried.   

 

Acceptance of Bills 

 

Approval Monthly Reports, Bonds and Abates/Rebates 
Following discussion relative to the assessors bond showing appointed rather than elected, Chairman 

Johnson entertained a motion to approve the monthly statements, bonds and the abates/rebates.   

Commissioner Kolb made the motion.  Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  The motion 

carried.   

 

The following bonds were placed on file:  

 

Charles Barnum SWCO Events Complex/Treasurer    $15,000.00 

Richard Baxter III WWCC, Treasurer      $50,000.00 

James Burnett  Predatory Animal District of SWCO, Secretary/Treasurer $10,000.00 

Pat Drinkle  SWCO, County Assessor     $10,000.00 

Scott Johnson  Eden Valley Solid Waste District, Treasurer/Secretary $10,000.00 

John Stanley McKee SWCO Museum Board, Treasurer    $10,000.00 

    SWCO School Dist. No. 1, CFO    $25,000.00 

Ann Rudoff  Sweetwater Board of Cooperative Service, Treasurer $10,000.00 

 

************** 

 
TAXPAYER VALUATION TAXPAYER VALUATION 
KAISER FRANCIS -10,985  MARTINEZ STELLA -365 
KAISER FRANCIS -15,957  MCCLURE KEVIN & ERICA -427 
KAISER FRANCIS -7,850  MCCLURE KEVIN & ERICA -389 
KAISER FRANCIS -4,242  MCCLURE KEVIN & ERICA -405 
KAISER FRANCIS -2  MCCLURE KEVIN & ERICA -410 
KAISER FRANCIS -5,018  MCCLURE KEVIN & ERICA -405 
KAISER FRANCIS -6,264  MCCLURE KEVIN & ERICA -363 
KAISER FRANCIS -576  MCCLURE KEVIN & ERICA -357 
KAISER FRANCIS -1,067  YATES PETROLEUM -932 
KAISER FRANCIS -136  FINLEY RESOURCES INC -1,157 
BP AMERICA PROD CO -2,282,900  FINLEY RESOURCES INC -2,231 
BP AMERICA PROD CO -92,474  CABOT OIL & GAS CORP -13,788 
BP AMERICA PROD CO -235,219  BP AMERICA PROD CO -257,991 
ARCHUHLETA MANUEL -260  KEER MCGEE OIL & GAS 

ONSHORE LP 
-26 

HUFFSTETLER BRUCE & MARY -422  YATES PETROLEUM -960 
HUFFSTETLER BRUCE & MARY -420  YATES PETROLEUM -36,346 
J&R RENTALS -369  WESCO OPERATING INC -10,987 
MARTINEZ STELLA -411  WAMSUTTER TRAILER COURT -257 
MARTINEZ STELLA -371  WAMSUTTER TRAILER COURT -366 
     

************** 

Commissioner Comments/Reports 

 

Commissioner Kolb 

Commissioner Kolb reported that he met with Green River Councilman Brett Stokes.  Commissioner 

Kolb explained that there was an issue with the automatic weather system at the Rock Springs/Sweetwater 

County Airport.  Commissioner Kolb reported that he recorded a public service announcement on the 

Radio Network wishing everyone a happy holiday and new year.  Commissioner Kolb reported that he 

attended the Rock Springs City Council meeting and requested that the fire truck issue be tabled for one 

month and mentioned that several county entities were interested in the fire truck.  Commissioner Kolb 

noted that he attended the Pulse of Southwest Wyoming legislative meeting and discussed the difficulties 

facing improvement districts, defending PILT funding and court room security issues.  Commissioner 

Kolb shared that he spoke with Grants Manager Krisena Marchal, County Assessor Pat Drinkle, County 

Treasurer Robb Slaughter, Deputy County Assessor Dave Divis, Land Use Director Eric Bingham, 

Facilities Manager Chuck Radosevich and Public Works Director John Radosevich.  Commissioner Kolb 

expressed his desire to schedule a meeting with Governor Mead to discuss improvement districts.  

Following discussion, the commission concurred to have Commissioner West and Commissioner Kolb 

draft a letter requesting to meet with Governor Mead to discuss improvement districts.  Commissioner 

Kolb spoke that there was concern with Flaming Gorge reservoir being drained and what the impact 



would be noting that Wyoming State Engineer Pat Terrell will schedule a meeting with the commission in 

March to provide an update.  Communities’ Protecting the Green River representative Don Hartley was 

present to explain that the plan for Glenn Canyon Institute is to reduce the water behind the dam. 

 

Commissioner Van Matre 

Commissioner Van Matre reported that he has been concerned with the MOU between Sweetwater 

County and Lincoln County regarding the VSO Department and noted that an offer of employment has 

been made to fill the vacancy in Lincoln County.  Commissioner Van Matre explained that Accounting 

Manager Bonnie Phillips received the draft financial and compliance audit report.  Lastly, Commissioner 

Van Matre attended the Pulse of Southwest Wyoming legislative meeting along with Commissioner 

Bailiff and Commissioner Kolb and emphasized the importance of all entities working together.   

 

Chairman Johnson 

Chairman Johnson expressed his appreciation to the commission and particularly to Commissioner Van 

Matre for serving as Acting Chairman during his absence.  Chairman Johnson explained that information 

was previously provided to the commission to evaluate elected official salaries and requested that the item 

be placed on the January 21, 2014 agenda.  Chairman Johnson appointed Commissioner Bailiff as liaison 

to the Combined Communications Joint Powers Board (CCJPB).  The commission concurred to advertise 

for the CCJPB vacancies and make appointments during the January 21, 2014 meeting. 

 

Chairman Johnson announced that Governor Mead will be in town on Monday, January 13, 2014 for the 

Western Wyoming Community College and the Rock Springs CDC Ribbon Cutting ceremonies.  

Chairman Johnson extended his appreciation to Grants Manager Krisena Marchal for being a driving 

force in assisting the college and procuring funding for the Western Wyoming Workforce Training Center 

(W3TC).  Commissioner West added that Governor Mead will also be touring the Memorial Hospital 

Medical Office Building.  

 

Chairman Johnson spoke that natural gas prices are looking very good and noted that, if prices remain at 

that level, the projected assessed evaluation will be $2.8 billion. 

 

Chairman Johnson explained that, during the first meeting of the year, it is customary to vote for a 

chairperson and to review the liaisons to boards and departments.  Following discussion, the commission 

concurred that they have worked well together and have been pleased with Chairman Johnson serving as 

chairman.  The commission concurred that they all felt comfortable with liaison assignments and will 

review chairmanship and liaison assignments next year.  Commissioner West moved to re-appoint 

Commissioner Johnson as our chairman.  Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  The motion 

carried. 

 

Commissioner West 

Commissioner West reported that Facilities Manager Chuck Radosevich provided an update on projects 

relative to the Health and Human Service building, circuit court items, conference room, RFP for the 

judicial development plan, Golden Hour Senior Center and the request for a breakdown of square footage 

for departments and component units in the county.  Commissioner West explained that Title 25 

continues to be a burden with documentation of invoices owed to the hospital.  Commissioner West 

explained that the 6
th

 Cent Joint Powers Board has discussed re-investing the money that is currently 

invested with Wells Fargo and has spoken with County Treasurer Robb Slaughter regarding what was 

done in the past.   

 

Commissioner Bailiff 
Commissioner Bailiff reported that he attended the Recreation Board meeting and met with Public Works 

Director John Radosevich and Human Resource Director Garry McLean relative to personnel issues.  

Commissioner Bailiff reported that he recorded a public service announcement on the Radio Network 

wishing everyone a happy holiday and new year.  Commissioner Bailiff noted that, while coming into the 

courthouse over the holidays, a domestic dispute was in progress and explained that security was called 

and extended his gratitude for the quick response as 5 deputies came to assist.  Commissioner Bailiff 

explained that a planning meeting for the North Dutch John well has been extended to January 21, 2014 

and encouraged the public to attend.  Commissioner Bailiff further reported that he attended the Pulse of 

Southwest Wyoming legislative meeting and explained that the central theme involved auditing, special 

districts and personnel.  Commissioner Bailiff reported that he spoke with Fire Warden Dave Bottermiller 

regarding fire trucks and also visited with county staff.   

 

Chairman Johnson expressed that, since Former Rock Springs Field Manager Lance Porter left the BLM, 

there has been a decline in the way the BLM has responded to Sweetwater County.  Chairman Johnson 

explained that he took those concerns to the acting manager and the response was that they do care about 

the county and encouraged the public to attend planning meetings. 

 

The commission discussed Mission Health Service taking over the Convalescent Center and the positive 

outcome for Castle Rock Hospital District.   

 

County Resident Concerns 
  

Chairman Johnson opened county resident concerns.  Representative Stan Blake was present to extend his 

appreciation to the commission for assisting Castle Rock Hospital District and special improvement districts 

during their financial struggles.  Representative Blake expressed that the legislative session will start February 

10, 2014 and noted that he is looking forward to seeing the recommendations from the Wyoming County 

Commissioners Association.  Representative Blake offered to accompany Commissioners West and Kolb when 

they have a discussion with Governor Mead regarding improvement districts.  Hearing no further comments, the 

hearing was closed.   



 

Break 
  

 Chairman Johnson called for a ten minute break.   

 

Action/Presentation Items 

 

Newspaper Designee 

Following discussion, Commissioner Van Matre moved to designate the Rocket Miner as the 

Sweetwater County newspaper of record.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  The motion 

carried.   

 

Board Appointment- Weed and Pest (4 Year Term) 

Commissioner West moved to re-appoint William Taliaferro to the Weed and Pest District Board.  

Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  The motion carried.   

 

Proclamation Declaring January as Mentoring Month in Sweetwater County 

YWCA Big Brothers Big Sisters Program Director Melinda Baas and Early Learning Representative 

Marie Wilson presented the National Mentoring Month Proclamation.  Ms. Baas read the proclamation 

aloud.  Commissioner Kolb motioned to sign the proclamation for National Mentoring Month.  

Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  The motion carried.   

 

NATIONAL MENTORING MONTH PROCLAMATION 

Whereas, the Sweetwater County Commissioners believe that all young people deserve the opportunity to 

become healthy, happy and productive citizens; and 

 

Whereas, we community leaders recognize the value that supportive and committed adult mentors play in 

the lives of young people; and 

 

Whereas, the YWCA Big Brothers Big Sisters Program gives adults an opportunity to do their part to 

strengthen our nation by providing youth with long-term quality mentoring that is proven to help them 

reach their full potential; and 

 

Whereas, the Sweetwater County Commissioners encourage all adults to play a role through volunteering, 

financial support or advocacy about the benefits of mentoring; and 

 

Whereas, we all know these unsung heroes and can take a few moments to say thank you for their efforts 

to support our youth and help them succeed; and 

 

Whereas, in Sweetwater County, Wyoming there are many young people who would benefit from the 

mentoring movement;  

 

NOW THEREFORE, WE, the Board of County Commissioners in and for Sweetwater County, Wyoming 

so do hereby proclaim the month of January 2014 as 

 

National Mentoring Month 

 

In Sweetwater County, Wyoming, and call upon all citizens, businesses, public and private agencies, 

religious and educational institutions, to join the mentoring movement and to be a part of the YWCA Big 

Brothers Big Sisters Program. 

THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

        OF SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 

               

        ____________________________________  

        Wally J. Johnson, Chairman 

 

               

        Gary Bailiff, Member 

 

            ______  

        John K. Kolb, Member 

ATTEST: 

        ____________________________________  

        Don Van Matre, Member    

   

                

Steven Dale Davis, County Clerk   Reid O. West, Member 

 

************** 

 

Presentation & Explanation of Proposed Ambulance Service Contract 

Sweetwater County Ambulance Service Board Members Chairman Lyle Armstrong, Sheriff Haskell, Ron 

Noble and Scott Kitchner presented the proposed ambulance service contract.  Following discussion 

relative to amending verbiage on the contract presented and receiving legal recommendation from Deputy 

County Attorney Cliff Boevers, the commission expressed their appreciation to the Sweetwater County 



Ambulance Service Board.  Commissioner Bailiff moved to accept, tentatively, the contract as amended.  

Commissioner West seconded the motion.  Following further discussion, the motion carried.   

 

SkyWest Minimum Revenue Guarantee 

Rock Springs/Sweetwater County Airport Board Chairman Larry Levitt and Airport Manager Terry Doak 

presented the Skywest Revenue Agreement.  Following discussion, Commissioner Kolb moved to 

approve the SWCO Skywest Revenue Agreement, conditioned upon the approval of the Cities of Rock 

Springs and Green River.  Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  The motion carried.   

 

Executive Session(s)-Personnel/Legal 
 

Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to enter into executive session for legal and personnel.  

Commissioner Kolb so moved.  Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  The motion carried.  A quorum 

of the commission was present. 

 

After coming out of executive session, Chairman Johnson explained that no action was required.   

 

Adjourn 

  

There being no further business to come before the Board this day, the meeting was adjourned subject to 

the call of the Chairman.   

 

This meeting was recorded and is available from the County Clerk’s office at the Sweetwater County 

Courthouse in Green River, Wyoming 

 

 

THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

        OF SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 

               

        ____________________________________  

        Wally J. Johnson, Chairman 

 

               

        Gary Bailiff, Member 

 

            ______  

        John K. Kolb, Member 

ATTEST: 

        ____________________________________ 

        Don Van Matre, Member 

 

               

Steven Dale Davis, County Clerk    Reid O. West, Member 

 

************** 

 



































































































































































































 

 

 
 
 
 
 
To the Board of County Commissioners 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
80 West Flaming Gorge Way 
Green River, Wyoming 82935 
 
We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the financial statements of Sweetwater 
County, Wyoming (the “County”) for the year ended June 30, 2013.  This report summarizes certain 
matters required by professional standards to be communicated to you in your oversight responsibility for 
the County’s financial and compliance reporting process. 
 
Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (AU-C 260, The Auditor’s 
Communication with Those Charged with Governance) require the auditor to promote effective two-way 
communication between the auditor and those charged with governance.  Consistent with this 
requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the financial statement audit, as well 
as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to oversee 
the financial and compliance reporting process. 
 
Our Responsibilities with Regard to the Financial Statement Audit 
 
Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, have been 
described to you in our arrangement letter dated June 24, 2013. 
 
Overview of the Planned Scope and Timing of the Financial Statement Audit 
 
We have issued a separate communication regarding the planned scope and timing of our audit and have 
discussed with you our identification of and planned audit response to significant risks of material 
misstatement.  
 
Accounting Policies and Practices 
 
 Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices:  There were no circumstances that required 

management to select amongst alternative accounting practices.   
 
 Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies:  Management has the ultimate responsibility for the 

appropriateness of the accounting policies used by the County.  The County did not adopt any 
significant new accounting policies nor have there been any changes in existing significant 
accounting policies during the current period.   

 
 Significant or Unusual Transactions:  We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions or 

significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus.   

 



 Management’s Judgments and Accounting Estimates:  Accounting estimates are an integral part of 
the preparation of financial statements and are based upon management’s current judgment.  The 
process used by management encompasses their knowledge and experience about past and current 
events and certain assumptions about future events.  Management has informed us that they used all 
the relevant facts available to them at the time to make the best judgments about accounting 
estimates, and we considered this information in the scope of our audit.  Estimates significant to the 
financial statements include the items listed below.  The Board may wish to monitor throughout the 
year the process used to compute and record these accounting estimates. 

 
1. Significant Estimate:  Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable 

- Accounting Policy:  Accounts are written off when deemed uncollectible. 

- Management’s Estimation Process:  Based on management’s review of past due accounts 
and historical experience. 

- Our Conclusion:  We evaluated the estimation process and noted it appeared reasonable.  
 

2. Significant Estimate:  Net Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) Obligation 

- Accounting Policy:  This liability is calculated in accordance with GASB Statement No. 
45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits 
Other than Pensions. 

- Management’s Estimation Process:  Estimates are provided by an independent actuary. 

- Our Conclusion:  We evaluated the estimation process and noted it appeared reasonable.  
 
Audit Adjustments 
 
Audit adjustments proposed by us, as well as adjustments provided by the County, and recorded by the 
County are included in the attached representation letter within the Summary of Recorded Audit 
Adjustments.     
 
Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Uncorrected misstatements are included in the attached representation letter within the Summary of 
Uncorrected Misstatements.  
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
We encountered no disagreements with management over the application of significant accounting 
principles, the basis for management’s judgments on any significant matters, the scope of the audit, or 
significant disclosures to be included in the financial statements.   
 
Consultation with Other Accountants 
 
We are not aware of any consultations management had with other accountants about accounting or 
auditing matters.   
 
Significant Issues Discussed with Management  
 
No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed with or were the subject of correspondence 
with management.   
 



Significant Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with management during the audit.  However, 
the following is a description of significant difficulties we encountered relative to the availability of 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence during the audit of the financial statements for the year ended 
June 30, 2013: 
 

Difficulties arose due to lack of availability of information needed in order to complete the audit in a 
timely and efficient manner.  Specifically, as previously communicated to you in our audit planning 
communication dated August 27, 2013, we arranged with the County for certain information to be 
completed and made available to us by October 28, 2013 in order for us to begin our audit procedures 
and meet the December 31, 2013 deadline.  The following is a list of these items along with the actual 
dates the information was provided to us: 
 

 General Fund Trial Balance – November 1, 2013, with several adjustments still necessary. 
 Fixed Asset Roll Forward for the County and Component Units – November 8, 2013. 
 Other Post Employment Benefit Study and Disclosures – November 13, 2013. 
 Budget-to-Actual Schedule – December 10, 2013. 

 
In addition, County personnel agreed to draft the financial statements, including footnote disclosures, 
and have those completed by November 11, 2013.  The financial statements were not provided to us 
until December 10, 2013. 

 
Material Written Communications between Management and Our Firm  
 
A copy of the audit representation letter between our firm and the management of the County is attached 
to this letter. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of County Commissioners and 
management and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties.  It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions you have about this report.  We appreciate the 
opportunity to continue to be of service to Sweetwater County, Wyoming. 

 
Cheyenne, Wyoming 
January 17, 2014 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

January 16, 2014 
 
 
 
McGee, Hearne & Paiz, LLP 
P.O. Box 1088 
Cheyenne, Wyoming 82003 
 
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the basic financial statements of 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming (the “County”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013 for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).  

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of the date of this letter, the following representations 
made to you during your audit: 

Financial Statements 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit arrangement letter dated June 24, 
2013, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements referred to above in accordance 
with U.S. GAAP.  

2. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control to 
prevent and detect fraud. 

4. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair 
value, are reasonable. 

5. Related party transactions, including those with component units for which the County is accountable, and 
interfund transactions, including interfund accounts and advances receivable and payable, sale and 
purchase transactions, interfund transfers, long-term loans, leasing arrangements, and guarantees, have 
been recorded in accordance with the economic substance of the transaction and appropriately accounted 
for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP. 

6. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which U.S. GAAP requires 
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 

7. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

8. The following have been properly recorded and/or disclosed in the financial statements: 

a. Net positions and fund balance classifications. 

b. The fair value of investments. 



McGee, Hearne & Paiz, LLP 
January 16, 2014 
Page 2 
 

c. Amounts of contractual obligations for construction and purchase of real property or equipment not 
included in the liabilities or encumbrances recorded on the books. 

d. All leases and material amounts of rental obligations under long-term leases. 

e. All significant estimates and material concentrations known to management which are required to 
be disclosed. 

f. The effect on the financial statements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
Statements No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions – An Amendment of GASB 
Statement No. 27, and No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, which have been 
issued, but which we have not yet adopted. 

g. Deposits and investment securities categories of risk. 

h. Legal debt limit. 

9. We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets.  In 
that regard: 

a. The County has no significant amounts of idle property and equipment. 

b. The County has no plans or intentions to discontinue the operations of any activities of programs or 
to discontinue any significant operations. 

c. There are no assets that have permanently declined in value. 

d. There are no long-lived assets or certain identifiable intangibles to be held and used where events or 
changes in circumstances have indicated that the carrying amount of the assets might not be 
recoverable.   

10. We are responsible for making the accounting estimates included in the financial statements.  Those 
estimates reflect our judgment based on our knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we expect to take.  In that 
regard: 

a. Adequate provisions have been made: 

i. To reduce receivables to their estimated net collectable amounts. 

ii. For risk retention, including uninsured losses or loss retentions (deductibles) attributable to 
events occurring through June 30, 2013 and/or for expected retroactive insurance premium 
adjustments applicable to periods through June 30, 2013. 

iii. For pension obligations, postretirement benefits other than pensions, and deferred 
compensation agreements attributable to employee services rendered through June 30, 2013. 

b. No provisions have been considered necessary: 

i. To reduce obsolete, damaged, or excess inventories to their estimated net realizable values. 

ii. To reduce investments, intangibles, and other assets which have permanently declined in 
value to their realizable values. 

iii. For any material loss to be sustained in the fulfillment of, or from the inability to fulfill, any 
service commitments. 

iv. For any material loss to be sustained as a result of purchase commitments. 

v. For environmental clean-up obligations. 
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vi. For closure and post-closure care costs associated with operation of a solid waste landfill. 

11. There are no: 

a. Material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the accounting records underlying the 
financial statements. 

b. Violations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be considered for 
disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency. In that regard, 
we specifically represent that we have not been designated as, or alleged to be, a potentially 
responsible party by the Environmental Protection Agency in connection with any environmental 
contamination. 

c. Other material liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed by 
the Contingencies Topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. 

d. Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the County is contingently liable. 

e. Arrangements with financial institutions involving compensating balances or other arrangements 
involving restrictions on cash balances. 

f. Lines of credit or similar arrangements. 

g. Agreements to repurchase assets previously sold. 

h. Security agreements in effect under the Uniform Commercial Code. 

i. Liens or encumbrances on assets or revenues or any assets or revenues which were pledged as 
collateral for any liability or which were subordinated in any way. 

j. Liabilities which are subordinated in any way to any other actual or possible liabilities. 

k. Debt issue repurchase options or agreements, or sinking fund debt repurchase ordinance 
requirements. 

l. Debt issue provisions. 

m. Authorized but unissued bonds and/or notes. 

n. Risk financing activities. 

o. Derivative financial instruments. 

p. Special and extraordinary items. 

q. Arbitrage rebate liabilities. 

r. Impairment of capital assets.  

12. There are no unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has advised us are probable of assertion and 
must be disclosed in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5 and/or GASB 
Statement No. 10. 

13. We have no direct or indirect, legal or moral obligation for any debt of any organization, public or private 
that is not disclosed in the financial statement. 

14. The County has satisfactory title to all owned assets. 
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15. We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the 
financial statements in the event of noncompliance.   

16. Net positions (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted) and fund balances are properly 
classified and, when applicable, approved. 

17. Expenses or expenditures have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in 
the statement of activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis. 

18. Revenues are appropriately classified in the statements of activities within program revenues and general 
revenues. 

19. Capital assets, including infrastructure assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and depreciated.  

20. We agree with the findings of specialists in evaluating the post-employment benefit other than pensions 
(OPEB) actuarial valuation and have adequately considered the qualifications of the specialists in 
determining the amounts and disclosures used in the financial statements and underlying accounting 
records. We did not give or cause any instructions to be given to the specialists with respect to the values 
or amounts derived in an attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that 
have had an impact on the independence or objectivity of the specialists. 

21. We have informed you of all uncorrected misstatements.  The uncorrected misstatements are included in 
the Summary of Uncorrected Misstatements attached as Appendix A. 

Information Provided 

22. We have provided you with: 

a. Access to all information, of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements such as records, documentation, and other matters; 

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; 

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain 
audit evidence. 

d. Minutes of the meetings of the governing board and committees or summaries of actions of recent 
meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared. 

23. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. 

24. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

25. We have no knowledge of allegations of fraud or suspected fraud, affecting the County’s financial 
statements involving: 

a. Management. 

b. Employees who have significant roles in the internal control. 

c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

26. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the County’s financial 
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short 
sellers, or others. 

27. We have no knowledge of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations whose 
effects should be considered when preparing financial statements. 
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28. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements. 

29. We have disclosed to you the identity of the County’s related parties and all the related-party relationships 
and transactions of which we are aware, and there are no material items. 

30. We have informed you of all significant deficiencies, including material weaknesses, if any, in the design 
or operation of internal controls that could adversely affect the County’s ability to record, process, 
summarize, and report financial data. 

31. We are aware of no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or 
deficiencies in, financial reporting practices. 

Supplementary Information 

32. With respect to supplementary information presented in relation to the financial statements as a whole: 

a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of such information. 

b. We believe such information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP and with OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations. 

c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior period.   

d. There are no significant assumptions or interpretations regarding the measurement or presentation 
of such information.   

e. When supplementary information is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will 
make the audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the supplementary 
information no later than the date of issuance of the supplementary information and the auditor’s 
report thereon. 

33. With respect to the management’s discussion and analysis, the budgetary comparison schedule, and the 
schedule of funding progress presented as required by the GASB to supplement the basic financial 
statements: 

a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of such required supplementary 
information. 

b. We believe such required supplementary information is measured and presented in accordance with 
guidelines prescribed by U.S. GAAP. 

c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior period.   

d. There are no significant assumptions or interpretations regarding the measurement or presentation 
of such information.   

34. We represent that as of the date of this letter, the financial statements were complete in a form and format 
that complied with U.S. GAAP, and all approvals necessary for issuance of the financial statements had 
been obtained.  

35. We are responsible for and have reviewed and approved the proposed adjustments to the trial balance 
identified during the audit, which are included in the Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments and will 
post all adjustments accordingly.  These adjustments are attached as Appendix B.   

36. During the course of your audit, you may have accumulated records containing data that should be 
reflected in our books and records. All such data have been so reflected. Accordingly, copies of such 
records in your possession are no longer needed by us. 
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Compliance Considerations 

In connection with your audit, conducted in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we confirm: 

37. We are responsible for: 

a. Compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreements applicable 
to the County. 

b. Establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. 

38. We have identified and disclosed to you: 

a. All laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreements that have a direct and 
material effect on the determinations of financial statement amounts or other financial data 
significant to audit objectives. 

b. Violations (and possible violations) of laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant 
agreements whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the auditor's report on 
noncompliance. 

39. We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations. 

40. We have provided you with our views on your reported findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as 
well as our planned corrective actions for the report. 

 
In connection with your audit of Federal awards conducted in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, Audits of 
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, we confirm: 

41. We are responsible for complying, and we have complied, with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133. 

42. We are responsible for understanding and complying with the requirements of laws, regulations, and the 
provisions of contracts and grant agreements related to each of our Federal programs. 

43. We are responsible for establishing and maintaining, and we have established and maintained, effective 
internal control over compliance for Federal programs that provides reasonable assurance that we are 
managing Federal awards in compliance with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant 
agreements that could have a material effect on our Federal programs. 

44. We have prepared the schedule of expenditures of Federal awards in accordance with Circular A-133 and 
have included expenditures made during the period being audited for all awards provided by Federal 
agencies in the form of grants, Federal cost-reimbursement contracts, loans, loan guarantees, property 
(including donated surplus property), cooperative agreements, interest subsidies, insurance, food 
commodities, direct appropriations, and other assistance. 

45. We have identified and disclosed to you the requirements of laws, regulations, and the provisions of 
contracts and grant agreements that are considered to have a direct and material effect on each major 
program. 

46. We have made available all contracts and grant agreements (including amendments, if any) and any other 
correspondence relevant to Federal programs and related activities that have taken place with Federal 
agencies or pass-through entities. 

47. There have been no amounts questioned or known noncompliance with the direct and material compliance 
requirements of Federal awards. 

48. We believe that we have complied with the direct and material compliance requirements. 

49. We have made available all documentation related to compliance with the direct and material compliance 
requirements, including information related to Federal program financial reports and claims for advances 
and reimbursements. 
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50. We have provided you our interpretations of any compliance requirements that are subject to varying 
interpretations. 

51. There have been no communications from grantors or pass-through entities concerning possible 
noncompliance with the direct and material compliance requirements, including communications received 
from the end of the period covered by the compliance audit to the date of your report. 

52. There have been no findings received or related corrective actions taken for previous audits, attestation 
engagements, and internal or external monitoring that directly relate to the objectives of the compliance 
audit, including findings received and corrective actions taken from the end of the period covered by the 
compliance audit to the date of your report. 

53. We are responsible for taking corrective action on audit findings of the compliance audit. 

54. We have provided you with all information on the status of the follow-up on prior audit findings, if any, 
by Federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities, including all management decisions. 

55. There have been no subsequent events that provide additional evidence with respect to conditions that 
existed at the end of the reporting period that affect noncompliance during the reporting period. 

56. There has been no known noncompliance with direct and material compliance requirements occurring 
subsequent to the period covered by your report. 

57. There have been no changes in internal control over compliance or other factors that might significantly 
affect internal control, including any corrective action taken by us with regard to significant deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance (including material weaknesses in internal control over compliance), 
that have occurred subsequent to the date as of which compliance is audited. 

58. Federal program financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are supported by the books 
and records from which the basic financial statements have been prepared. 

59. The copies of Federal program financial reports provided to you are true copies of the reports submitted, 
or electronically transmitted, to the Federal agency or pass-through entity, as applicable. 

60. We have monitored subrecipients to determine that they have expended pass-through assistance in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations and have met the requirements of Circular A-133. 

61. We have issued management decisions timely after the receipt of subrecipients’ auditor’s reports that 
identified noncompliance with laws, regulations, or the provisions of contracts or grant agreements, and 
we have ensured that subrecipients have taken the appropriate and timely corrective action on findings. 

62. We have considered the results of subrecipient audits and have made any necessary adjustments to our 
own books and records. 

63. We have charged costs to Federal awards in accordance with applicable cost principles. 

64. We are responsible for, and have accurately prepared, the summary schedule of prior audit findings to 
include all findings required to be included by Circular A-133. 

65. We will accurately complete appropriate sections of the data collection form.  We further acknowledge 
our responsibility for the complete, accurate, and timely filing of the data collection form with the Federal 
Audit Clearinghouse. 

66. We have elected to treat the Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILT) program as a Federal grant program subject 
to the requirements of OMB Circular A-133. 
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Opening
    Description Assets Liabilities Equity Revenue Expenses

Government Wide Statements - Primary Government
Carryover Impact from Previous Years:

To reverse a FY12 accounts receivable on 
the courthouse remodel grant -$              -$                 (125,497)  $        125,497  $     -$                

To correct depreciation for projects that 
were substantially complete during FY11 -                -                   39,434               -                 (39,434)           

Current Year Misstatements:
Known Errors:

To record subdivision deposits as deferred 
revenue -                (13,176)            67,031               (53,855)          -                  

To  reduce beginning interest receivable -                -                   121,178             (121,178)        -                  

Total Government-Wide Statements - 
Primary Government -$              (13,176)  $        102,146  $         (49,536)  $      (39,434)  $       

Government Wide Statements - Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units
Carryover Impact from Previous Years:

Mental Health, Library and Health Board
- To reverse prepaids related to amounts 
paid to the Insurance Fund -$              -$                 (99,980)  $          -$               99,980  $         

Mental Health - To capitalize fixed assets 
erroneously expensed in FY07; also to 
recognize depreciation expense for these 
assets (20 year life, original cost of $87,178) 61,024           -                   (65,383)              -                 4,359               

Current Year Misstatement:
Known Error:

Library - To record additional amount for 
unrealized gains that should increase value 
of amount due from Library Foundation 19,415           -                   (11,746)              (7,669)            -                  

Total Government Wide Statements - 
Aggregate Discretely Presented 
Component Units 80,439  $       -$                 (177,109)  $        (7,669)  $        104,339  $       

Continued

APPENDIX A

SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

Summary of Uncorrected Misstatements
As of and For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Management believes that the effects of the uncorrected misstatements aggregated by you and summarized below are
immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate to the opinion units of the basic financial statements. For purposes
of this representation, we consider items to be material, regardless of their size, if they involve the misstatement or
omission of accounting information that, in light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of
a reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement.

Effect - Debit (Credit)



 

Opening
    Description Assets Liabilities Equity Revenue Expenses

General Fund
Carryover Impact from Previous Years:

To reverse FY12 accounts receivable and 
deferred revenue on the courthouse remodel 
grant -$              -$                 73,891  $           (73,891)  $      -$                

Current Year Misstatements:
Known Errors:

To record subdivision deposits as deferred 
revenue -                (13,176)            67,031               (53,855)          -                  

To reduce beginning interest receivable -                -                   121,178             (121,178)        -                  

Total General Fund -$              (13,176)  $        262,100  $         (248,924)  $    -$                

Remaining Funds
Carryover Impact from Previous Years:

SC Road Fund - To reverse severance taxes 
for a difference in the amount of revenue 
provided -$              -$                 10,355  $           (10,355)  $      -$                

Current Year Misstatement:
Known Error:

Agency Funds - To adjust prorate fees 
from WYDOT collected in FY13 but not 
remitted to component units until FY14 (19,216)         19,216             -                     -                 -                  

Total Remaining Funds (19,216)  $     19,216  $         10,355  $           (10,355)  $      -$                

Effect - Debit (Credit)

 



 

Account Number Name Debit Credit

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  1

014-0000-201-01-00 SRF02 VOUCHERS PAYABLE (1,342)  $           
014-0142-431-95-21 SRF02 STATE/COUNTY ROAD FUND 1,342               
052-0000-201-01-00 SRF04 VOUCHERS PAYABLE (19,558)            
052-0142-419-43-05 SRF04 BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS 19,558             

20,900  $          (20,900)  $         

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  2

0000 101 01 00 - 753 AF01 POOLED CASH 1,000,229  $     
0000 200 01 00 - ALL AF01 DUE TO OTHER TAXING UNITS AND FUNDS (1,000,229)       

1,000,229  $     (1,000,229)  $    

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  3

001-0000-201-01-00 GF01 VOUCHERS PAYABLE (93,729)  $         
001-1010-419-96-36 GF01 SKYWEST AIRLINES INC 93,729             

93,729  $          (93,729)  $         

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  4

001-0134-441-74-03 GF01 OBLIGATED VEHICLE LEASE 690,354  $        
001-0510-431-74-03 GF01 OBLIGATED VEHICLE LEASE 278,020           
001-8000-888-88-00 GF01 PROCEEDS FROM CAPITAL LEASES (968,374)          

968,374  $        (968,374)  $       

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  5

001-0000-101-01-00 GF01 POOLED CASH 29,517  $          
001-0000-361-01-00 GF01 NOW ACCOUNT (29,517)            
044-0000-101-01-00 SRF01 POOLED CASH (29,517)            
044-0000-361-01-00 SRF01 NOW ACCOUNT 29,517             

59,034  $          (59,034)  $         

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  6

001-0000-346-42-72 GF01 DISCRETIONARY SEC 335 (872,112)  $       
001-0000-363-18-00 GF01 STATE SEVERANCE TAX 872,112           

872,112  $        (872,112)  $       

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  7

058-0000-101-01-00 SRF05 POOLED CASH 51,679  $          
058-0000-106-18-00 SRF05 CASH WITH OTHER GOVTS. 160,511           
058-0000-300-00-00 SRF05 1% SALES TAX (212,190)          

212,190  $        (212,190)  $       
Continued

To record FY13 invoice in accounts payable.

To gross up capital outlay expenditures and proceeds from capital leases for current year 
lease obligations.

Provided by Client - To reclass unrealized loss in Jail Tax Fund back to Jail Tax Fund 
(previously General Fund).

To reclass the portion of Section 335 from Severance Tax.

Provided by Client - To record pooled cash, cash with other governments and revenue for the 
new 1% Sales Tax Fund.

Include checks written July 1, 2013 in cash at year end.

APPENDIX B

SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments

June 30, 2013

Provided by Client - To adjust funds 52 and 14 accounts payable.

 



 
Account Number Name Debit Credit

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  8

0000 102 02 00 - ALL AF01 CASH WITH OTHER GOVERNMENTS 2,715,304  $     
0000 200 01 00 - ALL AF01 DUE TO OTHER TAXING UNITS AND FUNDS (2,715,304)       

2,715,304  $     (2,715,304)  $    

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  9

001-0000-342-10-09 GF01 DONATIONS (SHERIFF) (82,002)  $         
001-0000-343-10-00 GF01 ROAD AND BRIDGE DONATION REVENUE (337,896)          
001-0000-419-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES 66,643             
001-0000-421-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES 94,567             
001-0000-421-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES (48,080)            
001-0000-421-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES 82,002             
001-0000-431-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES 14,308             
001-0000-431-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES (493,309)          
001-0000-431-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES 337,896           
001-0116-415-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (898)                 
001-0120-415-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (4,025)              
001-0122-415-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (1,280)              
001-0124-419-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (3,553)              
001-0126-419-73-01 GF01 PURCHASE OF NEW SOFTWARE (22,122)            
001-0126-419-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT 68,070             
001-0128-410-43-02 GF01 BUILDINGS 84,019             
001-0128-410-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (2,598)              
001-0130-422-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (2,688)              
001-0130-422-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (1,968)              
001-0134-431-43-02 GF01 BUILDINGS 75,122             
001-0134-431-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (1,415)              
001-0134-431-74-03 GF01 OBLIGATED VEHICLE LEASE (259,828)          
001-0134-431-74-03 GF01 OBLIGATED VEHICLE LEASE 493,309           
001-0134-431-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (204,808)          
001-0136-419-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (180)                 
001-0142-415-73-01 GF01 PURCHASE OF NEW SOFTWARE (95,175)            
001-0142-419-95-09 GF01 MAPPING PROJECT (5,918)              
001-0142-419-95-70 GF01 FACILITIES IMPROVEMENTS (200,452)          
001-0142-419-95-71 GF01 RSNB BLD 333 BROADWAY 100,299           
001-0142-421-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (89,630)            
001-0142-423-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (62,463)            
001-0142-431-95-20 GF01 5c CO ROAD IMPROVEMENT FD 376,621           
001-0142-490-95-42 GF01 COURTHOUSE MODIFICATIONS 249,236           
001-0160-419-43-02 GF01 BUILDINGS (206,698)          
001-0160-419-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (2,533)              
001-0160-419-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (5,442)              
001-0210-415-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (4,335)              
001-0510-421-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (5,332)              
001-0510-421-74-02 GF01 RADIO SYSTEM (3,045)              
001-0510-421-74-03 GF01 OBLIGATED VEHICLE LEASE 46,990             
001-0510-421-74-03 GF01 OBLIGATED VEHICLE LEASE 48,080             
001-0510-421-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT 111,422           
001-0510-421-74-06 GF01 COURT SECURITY EQUIPMENT (3,022)              
001-0510-421-74-07 GF01 BOAT EQUIPMENT (3,035)              
001-0510-421-74-08 GF01 SHERIFF PATROL,K9&VEHICLE (55,481)            

Continued

Provided by Client - To adjust fixed asset accounts.

Provided by Client - To increase cash with other governments for amounts collected but not 
remitted to the County by June 30th.

 



 
Account Number Name Debit Credit

AJE #9 (continued)
001-0510-421-74-09 GF01 SUBSTATION RES DEPUTY PRG (3,666)  $           
001-0510-421-74-12 GF01 BOMB SQUAD EQUIPMENT (15,864)            
001-0515-423-43-02 GF01 BUILDINGS 9,358               
001-0515-423-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (5,831)              
001-0515-423-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (1,241)              
001-0525-429-74-02 GF01 RADIO SYSTEM (355)                 
001-0525-429-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (8,716)              
001-0530-429-74-05 GF01 EQUIPMENT (216)                 
001-0610-412-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (7,972)              
001-0810-412-74-01 GF01 OFFICE EQUIPMENT (4,870)              
050-0000-419-61-01 GF01 ASSET ADJUSTMENTS 191,405           
050-0000-431-61-01 GF01 ASSET ADJUSTMENTS 340,518           
050-0144-412-91-26 GF01 CHAP 26 COURTHOUSE REMOD. (191,405)          
050-0144-431-91-23 GF01 CMAQ 2010 (150)                 
050-0144-431-91-45 GF01 CMAQ 2011 (339,769)          
050-0144-431-91-48 GF01 CMAQ 2012 (599)                 

2,789,865  $     (2,789,865)  $    

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  10

052-0000-201-01-00 SRF04 VOUCHERS PAYABLE 86,878  $          
052-0142-419-43-05 SRF04 BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS (86,878)            

86,878  $          (86,878)  $         

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  11

001-0000-431-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES 491,141  $        
001-0142-431-95-20 GF01 5c CO ROAD IMPROVEMENT FD (491,141)          

491,141  $        (491,141)  $       

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  12

050-0000-201-01-00 GF01 VOUCHERS PAYABLE 39,892  $          
050-0142-431-95-61 GF01 SLIB YELLOWSTONE RD SOUTH (39,892)            

39,892  $          (39,892)  $         

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  13

001-0000-201-01-00 GF01 VOUCHERS PAYABLE (41,911)  $         
001-0000-419-61-01 GF01 OFFICE SUPPLIES 41,911             

41,911  $          (41,911)  $         

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  14

001-0000-345-10-03 GF01 MISC GRANT REV/ACCRUAL (22,342)  $         
001-0142-419-70-00 GF01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 22,342             

22,342  $          (22,342)  $         

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  15

019-0000-201-19-00 IS01 CLAIMS PAYABLE (35,265)  $         
019-0119-415-33-11 IS01 INSURANCE CLAIMS 35,265             

35,265  $          (35,265)  $         

Continued

To adjust the Insurance Fund to actual claims paid post year end as this is no longer an 
estimate.

Provided by Client - To adjust accounts payable and construction in process.

Provided by Client - To adjust infrastructure.

Provided by Client - To remove retainage in accounts payable.

To record additional invoices to be included in accounts payable.

To record donated land.

 



 
Account Number Name Debit Credit

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  16

050-0000-419-61-01 GF01 ASSET ADJUSTMENTS 60,750  $          
050-0144-412-91-26 GF01 CHAP 26 COURTHOUSE REMOD. (60,750)            

60,750  $          (60,750)  $         

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  17

001-0000-150-02-01 GF01 INTEREST RECEIVABLE (95,580)  $         
001-0000-361-01-00 GF01 NOW ACCOUNT 95,580             
019-0000-150-02-01 IS01 Interest Receivable 18,698             
019-0000-361-01-00 IS01 NOW ACCOUNT (18,698)            

114,278  $        (114,278)  $       

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  18

0000 101 01 00 - 753 AF01 POOLED CASH (974,214)  $       
0000 200 01 00 - ALL AF01 DUE TO OTHER TAXING UNITS AND FUNDS 974,214           

974,214  $        (974,214)  $       

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  19

0000 101 01 00 - 749 AF01 POOLED CASH (70,565)  $         
0000 200 01 00 - ALL AF01 DUE TO OTHER TAXING UNITS AND FUNDS 70,565             

70,565  $          (70,565)  $         

To adjust interest receivable in the General Fund and Insurance Fund.

To adjust auto fees collected in FY13 but not remitted to component units until FY14.

To adjust prorate fees from WYDOT collected in FY13 but not remitted to the General Fund 
until FY14.

To adjust Circuit Court remodel for liquidation damages not paid by County.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
Board of County Commissioners 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
Green River, Wyoming 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate discretely 
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Sweetwater 
County, Wyoming (County), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We did not audit the 
financial statements of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (Hospital) which is presented as a major 
discretely presented component unit of the County and whose assets totaled $125,507,337 and whose revenues 
totaled $59,109,933 in the accompanying basic financial statements.  The financial statements of the Hospital 
were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the 
amounts included for the Hospital, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 

Opinions  

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the County as of June 30, 2013, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash 
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
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Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 3 and 11, the budgetary comparison information on pages 52 and 53, and the 
schedule of funding progress on page 54 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We and other auditors have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance.  

Other Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the County’s basic financial statements.  The combining statements of nonmajor funds and discretely 
presented component units and schedule of expenditures of Federal awards, as required by Office of 
Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations 
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  

This information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  In our opinion, this information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
financial statements as a whole.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 16, 2014 on 
our consideration of the County’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of 
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the County’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
Cheyenne, Wyoming 
January 16, 2014 
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The following is a discussion and analysis of Sweetwater County’s performance and activities for the 
year ended June 30, 2013.  When read in conjunction with the financial statements, this section’s 
financial highlights, overview and analysis should assist the reader in gaining a more complete 
knowledge of the County’s financial performance.   
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 For the primary government, the County’s assets exceeded its liabilities at the close of the fiscal 
year by $108,926,049 (net position).  Of this amount, $36,195,802 (unrestricted net position) 
may be used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  For the entire 
government (including component units) net position was $206,510,996 and unrestricted net 
position was $83,968,574.  Note that with the current financial reporting model, the total net 
position figure includes capital assets net of accumulated depreciation. 

 At the close of the year, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $42,087,983, an increase of $6,611,593 from the prior year.  Of this amount, 
$24,317,152 is available for spending at the County’s discretion (unassigned fund balance). 

 At the end of the year, the unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $24,317,152 or 
61% of total general fund expenditures. 

 Total debt (capital leases) for the primary government increased by $115,997 during the year.  
During the year, the County entered into one capital lease agreement of $968,374 and made 
payments of $852,377.  Other than capital leases, no new debt was incurred.  Capital leases 
payable as of June 30, 2013 were $643,220.   

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to Sweetwater County’s basic 
financial statements.  Under the current reporting model, the basic financial statements comprise three 
components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the 
financial statements.  This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic 
financial statements. 
 
Government-wide financial statements.  Government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the County’s finances in a manner similar to private-sector 
business reporting.  These statements include the County as well as the component units of 
Sweetwater County (Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, Sweetwater County Fair Board, 
Southwest Counseling, Sweetwater County Library System, Sweetwater County Museum, Sweetwater 
County Recreation Board and the Sweetwater County Board of Health).   
 
The statement of net position, a component of the government-wide financial statements, presents 
information on all of the County’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as 
net position.  The County’s capital assets (land, buildings, equipment and infrastructure) are included in 
this statement and reported net of their accumulated depreciation.  Over time, increases or decreases 
in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the County is 
improving or deteriorating.  In evaluating the government’s overall condition, however, additional non-
financial factors should be considered such as the County’s economic outlook, changes in its 
demographics, and the condition of its capital assets and infrastructure. 
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The statement of activities presents revenue and expense information showing how the County’s net 
position changed during the fiscal year.  To understand the basis of how these numbers are 
determined, it is important to note that changes in net position are reported whenever an event occurs 
that requires a revenue or expense to be recognized, regardless of when the related cash is received or 
disbursed (the accrual basis of accounting).  For example, tax revenues are reported when the taxes 
are legally due, even though they may not be collected for some time after that date; and an obligation 
to pay a supplier is reported as an expense when the goods or services are received, even though the 
bill may not be paid until some time later.   
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are principally 
supported by intergovernmental revenues and property taxes (governmental activities) from other 
functions designed to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges 
(business type activities).  The governmental activities of the County include:  general government, 
public safety, road and bridge, health, recreation and welfare and conservation of natural resources.  
Business-type activities include the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 12 and 13 of this report. 
 
Fund financial statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts (revenues, expenditures, assets 
and liabilities) that is used to control resources that have been segregated for specific activities.  
Sweetwater County, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and 
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds utilized by the County 
can be divided into three categories:  governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, for 
accounting and reporting purposes, government fund numbers are determined with a different 
approach.  At the fund level, the focus is on changes in short-term spendable resources and the 
balance available to spend, rather than the long-term focus used for determining government-wide 
numbers.  Because the focus is so different between fund statements and government-wide 
statements, reconciliation between the two types is necessary to understand how the numbers differ.  
Such reconciliations are provided on pages 15 and 17 of this report. 
 
The General Fund is the primary operating governmental fund of the County.  Four other governmental 
funds are reported.  A summary of the four other funds (nonmajor funds) is combined into one 
“Nonmajor Governmental Funds” column.  To demonstrate legal compliance, a statement comparing 
budget-to-actual numbers for the General Fund is included in the required supplementary information.   
 
Proprietary Funds.  There are two different types of proprietary funds.  Enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.  Internal service funds are an accounting tool used to accumulate and allocate costs 
internally.  The County uses an internal service fund to account for its self-insurance.  Because these 
services predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been 
included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  The County does 
not maintain an enterprise fund. 
 
Fiduciary Funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held on behalf of outside parties, 
including other governments.  Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial 
statement because the resources of those funds are not available to support the County’s own 
programs.  The accounting used for fiduciary funds is similar to that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statement can be found on page 21. 
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Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to 
the financial statements can be found starting on page 24 of this report.  
 
Required supplementary information.  The required supplementary information includes budgetary 
comparison information for the General Fund and notes thereto, as well as the schedule of funding 
progress, starting on page 52. 
 
Other information.  Combining and individual fund statements and schedules can be found starting on 
page 55 of this report.   
 
Government-Wide Financial Analysis 
 
Net Position:  As stated earlier, an analysis of net position is probably the most important financial 
measurement to assist with understanding the financial position of the County, and whether the 
financial position improves or deteriorates each year.  The following table presents summary 
information from the Statement of Net Position in the Basic Financial Statements. 
 

Primary Primary

Government Government

Governmental Governmental Business-type Governmental Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities

Current and other assets 77.78$              16.10$              58.81$              74.91$              15.09$               41.91$               

Capital assets 65.30                15.32                66.70                66.72                15.26                 62.84                 

Total assets 143.08              31.42                125.51              141.63              30.35                 104.75               

Current liabilities 32.29                8.27                  8.33                  36.25                9.11                   6.33                   

Non-current liabilities 1.86                  0.53                  42.22                1.27                  0.32                   24.85                 

Total liabilities 34.15                8.80                  50.55                37.52                9.43                   31.18                 

Net position:

Net investment in capital 

assets 64.66                14.49                23.07                66.19                14.64                 37.29                 

Restricted 8.07                  0.35                  11.89                7.75                  0.31                   0.48                   

Unrestricted 36.20                7.78                  40.00                30.17                5.97                   35.80                 

Total net position 108.93$            22.62$              74.96$              104.11$             20.92$               73.57$               

Summary of Net Position

(In Millions)

Component Units Component Units

2013 2012

 
As depicted, at June 30, 2013, the County’s Primary government and component unit assets exceeded 
liabilities by approximately $108.93 and $97.58 million (net position) respectively.  59% and 38% 
respectively of this amount is represented by the investment in capital assets, net of debt still 
outstanding relating to the acquisition of those assets.  Due to the nature of these assets - long-term 
assets which are not readily convertible to liquid assets – they are not considered to be available for 
spending or appropriation.  Further, even though the presentation here shows capital assets net of 
related debt, it should be understood that the repayment of this debt does not come from the capital 
assets themselves, but comes from other sources. 
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Other sub-classifications of net position are restricted and unrestricted.  Approximately $8.07 million is 
restricted to expenditures in the Jail Tax Fund, CDC Tax Fund, State and County Roads Fund, and 
County Road Improvements Tax Fund.  
 
Changes in Net Position:  As taken from the Statement of Activities in the basic financial statements, 
the following table depicts the changes in net position for 2013. 
 

Primary Primary

Government Government

Governmental Governmental Business-type Governmental Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities

Revenues:

Program Revenues:

Charges for services 1.46$                4.91$                56.89$              2.00$                3.87$                 55.44$               

Operating grants 5.51                  10.05                -                    7.37                  8.95                   -                     

Capital grants and cont. 0.92                  0.02                  -                    6.59                  2.69                   -                     

General Revenues:

Property taxes 27.38                6.34                  -                    22.41                6.69                   -                     

Sales taxes 10.64                0.43                  0.25                  17.58                0.46                   -                     

State appropriations -                   0.04                  -                    -                    0.30                   -                     

Licenses and permits 1.66                  -                    -                    1.48                  -                     -                     

Other income 0.04                  1.01                  1.70                  0.10                  0.41                   1.62                   

Investment income (loss) (1.21)                0.02                  0.27                  0.62                  0.02                   0.26                   

Transfers -                   -                    -                    -                    -                     -                     

Total revenues 46.40                22.82                59.11                58.15                23.39                 57.32                 

Expenses:

General government 16.22                -                    -                    15.49                -                     -                     

Public safety 14.07                -                    -                    16.51                -                     -                     

Road and bridge 8.08                  -                    -                    13.63                -                     -                     

Health, recreation

and welfare 2.95                  21.12                -                    4.49                  20.81                 -                     

Conservation of

natural resources 0.26                  -                    -                    0.28                  -                     -                     

Memorial Hospital of

Sweetwater County -                   -                    57.72                -                    -                     54.01                 

Total expenses 41.58                21.12                57.72                50.40                20.81                 54.01                 

Change in net position 4.82                  1.70                  1.39                  7.75                  2.58                   3.31                   

Net position-Beginning 104.11              20.92                73.57                96.36                18.34                 70.26                 

Net position-Ending 108.93$            22.62$              74.96$              104.11$             20.92$               73.57$               

2013 2012

Component Units Component Units

Summary of Changes in Net Position

(In Millions)
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Governmental activities.  Governmental activities for the primary government increased the County’s 
net position by approximately $4.82 million.  The key elements of this increase are as follows: 
 

 Property taxes increased by approximately $4.97 million.  This is a 22% increase over the prior 
year.  Capital grant and contribution revenues decreased by approximately $5.68 million for an 
86% decrease over the prior year.  Sales taxes decreased $6.95 million for a 40% decrease 
from the prior year. 

 General government is the largest expenditure program accounting for 39% of the total 
expenditures for the County.  Public safety is second at 34% and road and bridge is third with 
19%. 

 Primary government expenditures decreased by approximately $8.82 million or 18% from the 
previous year. 

 
Business-type activities.  The business type activity is the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County.  
Key elements of its activities are as follows: 
 

 Revenues increased by approximately $1.79 million or 3% over the prior year. 

 Expenses increased by approximately $3.71million or 7% over the prior year. 

 Revenues were in excess of expenditures increasing net position by approximately $1.39 
million. 
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 

Variance with Variance with

Final Budget Final Budget

Positive Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative) Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues:

Taxes 36.23$     36.23$    37.78$    1.55$                31.99$     31.99$    34.15$    2.16$                

Licenses and permits 1.48         1.48        1.66        0.18                  1.37         1.37        1.48        0.11                  

Intergovernmental 6.93         8.34        5.32        (3.02)                8.53         10.71      8.84        (1.87)                

Charges for services 0.94         0.94        1.46        0.52                  0.78         0.78        1.57        0.79                  

Investment income (loss) 0.43         0.43        (1.11)       (1.54)                0.44         0.44        0.52        0.08                  

Miscellaneous 0.64         0.65        0.46        (0.19)                0.74         0.79        0.10        (0.69)                

Total revenues 46.65       48.07      45.57      (2.50)                43.85       46.08      46.66      0.58                  

Expenditures:

General government 16.98       16.29      15.15      1.14                  17.38       15.47      14.26      1.21                  

Public safety 14.21       14.41      13.05      1.36                  14.01       15.49      13.96      1.53                  

Road and bridge 4.60         4.60        4.02        0.58                  3.74         3.78        3.62        0.16                  

Health, recreation and 

welfare 2.57         3.60        2.94        0.66                  2.08         5.59        4.51        1.08                  

Conservation of natural 

resources 0.27         0.27        0.26        0.01                  0.25         0.27        0.27        -                   

Capital outlay 6.16         7.04        4.76        2.28                  6.82         8.61        5.50        3.11                  

Total expenditures 44.79       46.21      40.18      6.03                  44.28       49.21      42.12      7.09                  

Transfers from other funds -           -         -         -                   -           0.50        0.50        -                   

Proceeds from capital leases -           -         0.97        0.97                  -           -         -         -                   

Proceeds from sale of capital 

assets 0.03         0.03        0.08        0.05                  -           -         -         -                   

0.03         0.03        1.05        1.02                  -           0.50        0.50        -                   

Net change in Fund 

Balance 1.89$       1.89$      6.44$      4.55$                (0.43)$      (2.63)$     5.04$      7.67$                

(In Millions)

2013 2012

Budgeted Amounts Budgeted Amounts
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The differences between the original budget and the final amounts represent changes made by the 
commission as additional facts and information became available.  Several factors lead to these 
modifications.  They include:  economic factors, change in governing officials, emergency purchases, 
and other factors. 
 
Tax revenues were over the budgeted amounts due to the condition of the local and state economies 
during the year.   
 
Total expenditures were under budget primarily due to projects which were either not undertaken or 
completed during the year. 
 
Capital assets 
 
At the end of the year, for governmental activities, the County and its component units had invested 
$80.63 million in a variety of capital assets, as reflected in the following schedules, which represents a 
decrease of $1.35 million or 1.6% from last year.  The following schedules show the capital assets for 
the primary government, component units and the component unit business-type activities for the year 
ended June 30, 2013.  Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in Note 9 of 
this report. 
 

Primary Government

Balance Deletions/ Balance
June 30, 2012 Additions Transfers June 30, 2013

Capital assets not being

   depreciated:

Land 1,072,201$          22,342$               -$                         1,094,543$          

Construction in progress 6,926,031            949,984               (5,250,916)           2,625,099            

Total capital assets not

   being depreciated 7,998,232            972,326               (5,250,916)           3,719,642            

Capital assets being

  depreciated:

Buildings and 

  improvements 29,032,391          228,614               3,218,398            32,479,403          

Equipment and

  furnishings 17,297,037          1,447,156            (1,068,141)           17,676,052          

Infrastructure 108,638,400        1,679,631            2,032,518            112,350,549        

Total capital assets being

   depreciated 154,967,828        3,355,401            4,182,775            162,506,004        

Less: Accumulated

  depreciation:

Buildings and 

  improvements (9,046,928)           (799,240)              -                           (9,846,168)           

Equipment and

  furnishings (11,308,097)         (1,450,093)           952,626               (11,805,564)         

Infrastructure (75,890,802)         (3,378,989)           -                           (79,269,791)         

Total accumulated

depreciation (96,245,827)         (5,628,322)           952,626               (100,921,523)       

Net depreciable assets 58,722,001          (2,272,921)           5,135,401            61,584,481          

Total net capital assets 66,720,233$        (1,300,595)$         (115,515)$            65,304,123$        
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Component Units
Balance Deletions/ Balance

June 30, 2012 Additions Transfers June 30, 2013

Capital assets not being
   depreciated:

Construction in progress 3,154,128$          1,051,586$          (3,983,690)$         222,024$             

Capital assets being
   depreciated:

Buildings and 
  improvements 30,666,622          42,320                 3,983,690            34,692,632          
Equipment and
  furnishings 3,512,275            32,873                 (157,554)              3,387,594            

Total capital assets being
   depreciated 34,178,897          75,193                 3,826,136            38,080,226          

Less: Accumulated
  depreciation:

Buildings and 
  improvements (19,451,495)         (886,616)              -                           (20,338,111)         
Equipment and
  furnishings (2,622,783)           (175,768)              157,554               (2,640,997)           

Total accumulated
depreciation (22,074,278)         (1,062,384)           157,554               (22,979,108)         

Net depreciable 
capital assets 12,104,619          (987,191)              3,983,690            15,101,118          

Total net capital assets 15,258,747$        64,395$               -$                         15,323,142$        

Business-Type Activities
Balance Deletions/ Balance

June 30, 2012 Additions Transfers June 30, 2013

Capital assets not being
   depreciated:

Land 18,245$               -$                         -$                         18,245$               
Construction in progress 4,817,779            10,139,800          (6,485,148)           8,472,431            

Total capital assets not
   being depreciated 4,836,024            10,139,800          (6,485,148)           8,490,676            

Capital assets being
   depreciated:

Buildings and 
  improvements 28,333,398          -                           -                           28,333,398          
Equipment and
  furnishings 65,715,026          6,453,565            (555,981)              71,612,610          

Total capital assets being
   depreciated 94,048,424          6,453,565            (555,981)              99,946,008          

Less: Accumulated
  depreciation:

Buildings and 
  improvements (9,222,761)           (997,742)              -                           (10,220,503)         
Equipment and
  furnishings (26,823,467)         (5,254,191)           555,981               (31,521,677)         

Total accumulated
depreciation (36,046,228)         (6,251,933)           555,981               (41,742,180)         

Net depreciable assets 58,002,196          201,632               -                           58,203,828          

Total net capital assets 62,838,220$        10,341,432$        (6,485,148)$         66,694,504$        
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Long-term debt 
 

At year-end, the County had $3,442,371 in long-term debt.  In addition, governmental-type component 
units of the County had $1,408,097 in long-term debt and the business-type component unit of the 
County had $44,242,697 in long-term debt.  Debt consists of Compensated absences, net OPEB 
obligation, Capital leases, Hospital Revenue Bonds and notes payable.  State statute allows the County 
to have 2% of its assessed valuation in general bonded debt.  Additional information on the County’s 
long-term debt can be found in Notes 11 through 15 and Note 21 of this report.    
 

Primary Government

Balance at Balance at Due within
June 30, 2012 Additions Reductions June 30, 2013 one year

Net OPEB obligation 1,218,712$          354,192$             (156,800)$            1,416,104$          -$                         

Compensated absences 1,419,502            1,228,223            (1,264,678)           1,383,047            1,264,678            

Capital leases 527,223               968,374               (852,377)              643,220               319,280               

Total long-term liabilities 3,165,437$          2,550,789$          (2,273,855)$         3,442,371$          1,583,958$          

Governmental-Type

Component Units

Compensated absences 597,303$             889,396$             (913,099)$            573,600$             573,600$             

Notes payable 585,225               512,000               (262,728)              834,497               298,897               

Capital leases 34,978                 -                           (34,978)                -                           -                           

Total long-term liabilities 1,217,506$          1,401,396$          (1,210,805)$         1,408,097$          872,497$             

Business-Type

Component Unit

Compensated absences 1,097,337$          1,307,697$          (1,097,337)$         1,307,697$          1,307,697$          

Hospital revenue bonds 25,550,000          42,935,000          (25,550,000)         42,935,000          1,400,000            

Total long-term liabilities 26,647,337$        44,242,697$        (26,647,337)$       44,242,697$        2,707,697$          

 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide citizens, customers, investors, creditors and others with a 
general overview of the County’s finances and to demonstrate the County’s accountability for the 
money it receives.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report, or requests for 
additional financial information should be addressed to the office of the Sweetwater County Clerk. 
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2013

Primary
Government

Business-Type
Governmental Governmental Activity

ASSETS Activities Activities Memorial Hospital Total
Current Assets

Cash and investments 19,937,020  $      8,184,646  $        18,387,596  $        26,572,242  $      
Due from other governments 2,316,792           -                      -                        -                      
Accounts receivable, net 25,773,123         7,375,960           9,469,522             16,845,482         
Grants receivable 290,332              79,090                -                        79,090                
Note receivable 164,800              -                      -                        -                      
Inventories 623,901              60,348                1,978,930             2,039,278           
Prepaid items 44,763                55,386                1,076,521             1,131,907           

Total current assets 49,150,731           15,755,430           30,912,569            46,667,999           
Noncurrent Assets

Cash and investments 28,091,564         -                      26,622,208           26,622,208         
Due from Library Foundation -                      348,969              -                        348,969              
Notes receivable 535,600              -                      238,935                238,935              
Rental property, net -                      -                      514,602                514,602              
Deferred financing costs -                      -                      524,519                524,519              
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 1,094,543           -                      18,245                  18,245                
Construction in progress 2,625,099           222,024              8,472,431             8,694,455           

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 32,479,403         34,692,632         28,333,398           63,026,030         
Equipment and furnishings 17,676,052         3,387,594           71,612,610           75,000,204         
Infrastructure 112,350,549       -                      -                        -                      
Accumulated depreciation (100,921,523)      (22,979,108)        (41,742,180)          (64,721,288)        

Total noncurrent assets 93,931,287           15,672,111           94,594,768            110,266,879         
Total assets 143,082,018         31,427,541           125,507,337          156,934,878         

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Warrants and vouchers payable 1,672,752           546,357              3,893,435             4,439,792           
Accrued liabilities 545,174              110,471              1,524,691             1,635,162           
Court bonds and other funds held 116,824              -                      -                      
Deferred revenue 28,378,848         6,738,475           -                        6,738,475           
Estimated third-party payor settlements -                      -                      200,000                200,000              
Notes payable, due within one year -                      298,897              1,400,000             1,698,897           
Capital leases payable, due within one year 319,280              -                      -                        -                      
Compensated absences, due within one year 1,264,678           573,600              1,307,697             1,881,297           

Total current liabilities 32,297,556           8,267,800             8,325,823              16,593,623           
Noncurrent Liabilities

Net OPEB obligation 1,416,104           -                      -                        -                      
Notes payable, due in more than one year -                      535,600              42,220,708           42,756,308         
Capital leases payable, due in more than one year 323,940              -                      -                        -                      
Compensated absences, due in more than one year 118,369              -                      -                        -                      

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,858,413             535,600                42,220,708            42,756,308           
Total liabilities 34,155,969           8,803,400             50,546,531            59,349,931           

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 64,660,903         14,488,645         23,073,796           37,562,441         
Restricted for:

Jail Tax Fund 407,570              -                      -                        -                      
State and county roads 3,662,666           -                      -                        -                      
CDC building 3,786,918           -                      -                        -                      
County road improvements 212,190              -                      -                        -                      
Endowment challenge program -                      348,969              -                        348,969              
Tipple building -                      9,500                  -                        9,500                  
Restricted by contributors and grantors for 

capital acquisition -                      -                      473,977                473,977              
Restricted for debt service and reserve -                      -                      11,417,288           11,417,288         

Unrestricted 36,195,802         7,777,027           39,995,745           47,772,772         
Total net position 108,926,049  $    22,624,141  $      74,960,806  $        97,584,947  $      

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Primary
Business-Type

Charges for Operating Capital Activity
Sales and Grants and Grants and Governmental Governmental Memorial

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Hospital Total

Primary Government
Governmental activities:

General government 16,217,111  $  867,103  $     1,615,193  $      293,940  $     (13,440,875)  $  -$               -$                -$                 
Public safety 14,074,835      589,994        1,399,211         82,002          (12,003,628)     -                -                 -                  
Road and bridge 8,078,854        -                788,791            538,226        (6,751,837)       -                -                 -                  
Health, recreation and welfare 2,948,210        -                1,690,523         -                 (1,257,687)       -                -                 -                  
Conservation of natural resources 256,991           -                13,803              -                 (243,188)          -                -                 -                  

Total governmental activities 41,576,001      1,457,097       5,507,521           914,168          (33,697,215)       -                  -                   -                   

Component Units
Governmental activities 21,119,315      4,909,542     10,055,091       22,275          -                   (6,132,407)    -                 (6,132,407)     
Business-type activities 57,715,901      56,889,751   -                   3,445            -                   -                (822,705)        (822,705)        

Total component units 78,835,216  $  61,799,293  $ 10,055,091  $     25,720  $        -                     (6,132,407)      (822,705)          (6,955,112)       

General Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes 27,379,984       6,335,302     -                 6,335,302      
Sales and other taxes 10,640,404       426,481        247,903         674,384         

State appropriations -                   42,014          -                 42,014           
Licenses and permits 1,661,899         -                -                 -                  
Other income 42,096              1,014,809     1,696,403      2,711,212      
Investment income (loss) (1,211,506)       16,518          272,431         288,949         

Total general revenues 38,512,877         7,835,124       2,216,737        10,051,861      

Change in net position 4,815,662           1,702,717       1,394,032        3,096,749        

Net Position, beginning 104,110,387     20,921,424   73,566,774    94,488,198    

Net Position, ending 108,926,049  $   22,624,141  $ 74,960,806  $  97,584,947  $  

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Component Units
Program Revenues

Changes in Net Position
Net (Expenses) Revenues and
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2013

Nonmajor Total
General Governmental Governmental

ASSETS Fund Funds Funds

Cash and investments 36,387,834  $   6,301,330  $     42,689,164  $     
Due from other governments 1,329,333       987,459          2,316,792          
Receivables:

Taxes and interest on taxes 25,634,313     -                   25,634,313         
Accrued interest 92,498            -                   92,498               
Grants 290,332          -                   290,332             

Note receivable 700,400          -                   700,400             
Inventories 623,901          -                   623,901             
Prepaid items 44,763            -                   44,763               

Total assets 65,103,374  $  7,288,789  $    72,392,163  $     

LIABILITIES
Warrants and vouchers payable 1,415,687  $    257,065  $       1,672,752  $      
Court bonds and other funds held 116,824          -                   116,824             
Deferred revenue 28,514,604     -                   28,514,604         

 Total liabilities 30,047,115       257,065            30,304,180         

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable:

Inventories 623,901          -                   623,901             
Prepaid items 44,763            -                   44,763               
Note receivable 535,600          -                   535,600             

Restricted for:
Jail maintenance and operations -                  407,570          407,570             
State and county roads 1,037,620       2,625,046       3,662,666          
CDC Building -                  3,786,918       3,786,918          
County road improvements -                  212,190          212,190             

Committed to:
Capital replacements 7,924,059       -                   7,924,059          
Impact tax 42,051            -                   42,051               
Economic development infrastructure 111,162          -                   111,162             
Insurance reserves 418,393          -                   418,393             

Assigned to:
Hospital maintenance 1,558              -                   1,558                 

Unassigned 24,317,152     -                   24,317,152         

Total fund balances 35,056,259       7,031,724         42,087,983         

Total liabilities and fund balances 65,103,374  $  7,288,789  $    72,392,163  $     

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
 



 

15 

 
SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
  TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2013

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 42,087,983$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, not reported in the governmental funds. 65,304,123        

Some of the County's revenues will be collected after year-end but
are not available soon enough to pay for the current period's 
expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 135,756            

Long-term liabilities, including net OPEB obligation, capital leases payable, 
accrued interest expense on capital leases, and compensated absences, 
are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not 
reported in the funds. (3,445,488)        

An internal service fund is used by management to charge the costs of
certain activities to individual funds.  The assets and liabilities of this
internal service fund are included with governmental activities in the
statement of net position. 4,843,675          

Net position of governmental activities 108,926,049$    

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Nonmajor Total
General Governmental Governmental

Fund Funds Funds

Revenue
Taxes 37,781,706  $   212,190  $        37,993,896  $    
Licenses and permits 1,661,899        -                    1,661,899          
Intergovernmental revenue 5,315,806        685,985           6,001,791          
Charges for services 1,457,097        -                    1,457,097          
Investment income (loss) (1,113,903)       (23,524)            (1,137,427)         
Miscellaneous 461,994           -                    461,994             

Total revenue 45,564,599        874,651             46,439,250         

Expenditures
Current:

General government 15,149,601      -                    15,149,601        
Public safety 13,048,594      307,736           13,356,330        
Road and bridge 4,018,027        7,395                4,025,422          
Health, recreation and welfare 2,943,940        -                    2,943,940          
Conservation of natural resources 256,991           -                    256,991             

Capital outlay 4,761,327        384,369           5,145,696          

Total expenditures 40,178,480        699,500             40,877,980         

Excess of revenue over
expenditures 5,386,119        175,151           5,561,270          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from capital leases 968,374           -                    968,374             
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 81,949             -                    81,949               

Net change in fund balances 6,436,442        175,151           6,611,593          

Fund Balance, beginning 28,619,817      6,856,573        35,476,390        

Fund Balance, ending 35,056,259  $   7,031,724  $     42,087,983  $    

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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 SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 6,611,593  $     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However,
in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  This
is the amount by which depreciation exceeded capital purchases and 
contributions in the current period. (1,300,595)       

Governmental funds do not report gains and losses on sales, retirements,
or donations of fixed assets.  However, the statement of activities 
reports these amounts. (115,515)          

The statement of activities reports an increase in revenue due to current
activity in deferred revenues which is not reported at the fund level. 26,492             

The net OPEB obligation and the liability for compensated absences are 
not recorded in the fund level, but are reported in the statement of net 
position. This is the current year change in these liabilities, reported as 
an expense in the statement of activities. (160,937)          

Repayment of capital lease principal is an expenditure in the governmental 
funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of  
net position.  This is offset by the total capital leases issued during the 
year, if any. (110,303)          

Internal service funds are accounted for as proprietary funds, therefore,
they are not included in the governmental funds. (135,073)          

Change in net position of governmental activities 4,815,662  $     

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUND
June 30, 2013

Internal
Service

Insurance
ASSETS Fund

Current Assets
Cash 2,479,605  $    
Investments 2,859,815        
Receivables:
  Accounts 27,614            
  Interest 18,698            

Total assets 5,385,732        

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

Current Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 542,057           

 Total current liabilities 542,057           

Net Position
Unrestricted 4,843,675        

Total net position 4,843,675  $    

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 
NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Internal
Service

Insurance
Fund

Operating Revenues
Insurance premiums 5,511,704  $    

Operating Expenses
Insurance claims 5,572,698        

Operating (loss) (60,994)            

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)
Investment income (loss) (74,079)            

Change in net position (135,073)          

Net Position 
Beginning of year 4,978,748        

End of year 4,843,675  $    

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUND
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Internal
Service

Insurance
Fund

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash receipts on premiums 5,136,953  $      
Payments on insurance claims (5,427,150)        

Net cash (used in) operating activities (290,197)           

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest income 68,116              
Purchase of investments (2,999,618)        
Sale of investments 3,001,820          

Net cash provided by investing activities 70,318              

Net (decrease) in cash (219,879)           

Cash 
Beginning of year 2,699,484          

End of year 2,479,605  $      

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
(Used in) Operating Activities
Operating income (loss) (60,994)  $         
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)

to net cash (used in) operating activities:
Change in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (27,614)             
Prepaid expenses 77,596              
Accrued liabilities 67,952              
Deferred revenue (347,137)           

Net cash (used in) operating activities (290,197)  $       

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
AGENCY FUND
June 30, 2013

Property
Tax

ASSETS Fund

Cash 9,405,860  $       
Due from other governments 2,715,304           
Property taxes and interest 

receivable 2,258,371           

14,379,535  $     

LIABILITIES 
Due to other taxing units 14,379,535  $     

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DISCRETELY PRESENTED GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
June 30, 2013

Nonmajor Total
Mental Events Library Component Component

ASSETS Health Complex System Units Units

Cash and investments 4,088,517  $    1,353,821  $    1,492,877  $    1,249,431  $    8,184,646  $    
Due from Library Foundation -                   -                   348,969           -                   348,969           
Receivables:

Taxes and interest on taxes 713,453           1,870,210        3,116,179        731,131           6,430,973        
Accounts and insurance credits 819,449           4,470               180                  120,888           944,987           
Grants -                   26,244             -                   52,846             79,090             

Inventories -                   44,295             16,053             -                   60,348             
Prepaid items 42,492             2,554               -                   10,340             55,386             
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Construction in progress 222,024           -                   -                   -                   222,024           
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 6,460,234        16,005,449      2,823,696        9,403,253        34,692,632      
Equipment and furnishings 923,834           1,832,981        171,486           459,293           3,387,594        
Accumulated depreciation (3,961,447)       (8,652,578)       (2,331,748)       (8,033,335)       (22,979,108)     

Total assets 9,308,556  $    12,487,446  $ 5,637,692  $   3,993,847  $    31,427,541  $ 

LIABILITIES 

Warrants and vouchers payable 172,538  $       321,552  $       32,838  $         19,429  $         546,357  $       
Accrued expenses -                   46,759             44,638             19,074             110,471           
Deferred revenue 699,975           2,251,297        3,062,501        724,702           6,738,475        
Notes payable:

Due within one year 134,097           164,800           -                   -                   298,897           
Due in more than one year -                   535,600           -                   -                   535,600           

Compensated absences:
Due within one year 208,128           103,888           154,020           107,564           573,600           

 Total liabilities 1,214,738        3,423,896        3,293,997        870,769           8,803,400        

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 3,510,548        8,485,452        663,434           1,829,211        14,488,645      
Restricted for:

Endowment challenge program -                   -                   348,969           -                   348,969           
Tipple building -                   -                   -                   9,500               9,500               

Unrestricted 4,583,270        578,098           1,331,292        1,284,367        7,777,027        

Total fund balances 8,093,818  $    9,063,550  $    2,343,695  $    3,123,078  $    22,624,141  $  

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
DISCRETELY PRESENTED GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Operating Capital Nonmajor Total
Charges for Grants and Grants and Mental Events Library Component Component

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Health Complex System Units Funds

Mental Health
Health, recreation and welfare 9,979,249  $    2,400,499  $  8,107,484  $    -$                528,734  $     -$              -$               -$               528,734  $       

Events Complex
Health, recreation and welfare 4,492,003        1,945,627      92,500             -                  -                 (2,453,876)    -                 -                 (2,453,876)       

Library System
Health, recreation and welfare 3,528,691        -                 7,709               -                  -                 -                (3,520,982)     -                 (3,520,982)       

Nonmajor Component Units
Health, recreation and welfare 3,119,372        563,416         1,847,398        22,275            -                 -                -                 (686,283)        (686,283)          

Total component units 21,119,315  $  4,909,542  $ 10,055,091  $ 22,275  $       528,734         (2,453,876)  (3,520,982)   (686,283)      (6,132,407)     

General Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes 669,226         1,859,985      3,083,867      722,224         6,335,302        
Sales and other taxes 45,804           123,493         204,386         52,798           426,481           

State appropriations -                 -                42,014           -                 42,014             
Other income 12,741           898,927         103,141         -                 1,014,809        
Interest income 3,308             289                11,813           1,108             16,518             

Total general revenues 731,079         2,882,694      3,445,221      776,130         7,835,124        

Change in net position 1,259,813      428,818         (75,761)          89,847           1,702,717        

Net Position, beginning 6,834,005      8,634,732      2,419,456      3,033,231      20,921,424      

Net Position, ending 8,093,818  $  9,063,550  $ 2,343,695  $ 3,123,078  $ 22,624,141  $ 

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Reporting entity:  The basic financial statements include all funds of the primary government, which is 
the County, as well as the component units determined to be included in the County’s financial reporting 
entity.  The decision to include a potential component unit in the County’s reporting entity is based on 
several criteria, including legal standing, fiscal dependency, and financial accountability.  Based on the 
application of these criteria, the following is a brief review of certain entities included in the County’s 
reporting entity. 
 
In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial 
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, entities over which the County has significant operational or financial 
relationships such as boards, commissions and authorities are considered component units.  Component 
units are either discretely presented or blended.  Discrete presentation entails reporting component unit 
financial data in columns separate from the financial data of the primary government (the County).  
Blending requires the component unit’s balances and transactions be reported with the balances and 
transactions of the County. 
 
The following organizations comprise the County’s discretely presented component units: 
 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County is a 99-bed general acute care facility located in Rock 
Springs, Wyoming.  The Hospital is owned by Sweetwater County.  The Hospital participates in 
the County’s tax levies.  For Federal income tax purposes, the Hospital is considered to be part of 
the County and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The 
Hospital is presented as a business-type component unit.  Complete financial statements for the 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County may be obtained at the entity’s administrative offices.   
 
The Sweetwater County Fair Board is a seven member board appointed by the County’s 
governing board to oversee the planning of the annual County fair and to oversee the daily 
operations of the Sweetwater County Events Complex located in Rock Springs, Wyoming.  The 
Fair Board participates in the County’s tax levies and receives grants from the County.  For 
Federal income tax purposes, the Fair Board is considered part of the County and, therefore, 
under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The Fair Board is a discretely 
presented governmental type component unit.  No separate financial statements for the Fair Board 
are available. 

 
Southwest Counseling Services provides mental health and substance abuse treatment, counseling 
and training to the citizenry of Sweetwater County.  The Mental Health Board is a seven-member 
board appointed by the County’s governing board to oversee the daily operations of Southwest 
Counseling Services.  Southwest Counseling Services participates in the County’s tax levies.  For 
Federal income tax purposes, Southwest Counseling Services is considered part of the County 
and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The Mental 
Health Board is a discretely presented governmental type component unit.  No separate financial 
statements for Southwest Counseling Services are available. 
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The Sweetwater County Library System has County libraries located in Green River, Wyoming 
and Rock Springs, Wyoming.  The Library Board is a five-member board appointed by the 
County’s governing board to oversee the daily operations of the Library System.  The Sweetwater 
County Library System participates in the County’s tax levies and receives grants from the 
County.  For Federal income tax purposes, the Library System is considered part of the County 
and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The Library 
System is a discretely presented governmental type component unit.  No separate financial 
statements for the Sweetwater County Library System are available. 
 
The Sweetwater County Museum is a local, historical, museum located in Green River, Wyoming.  
The Museum Board is a five-member board appointed by the County’s governing board to 
oversee the daily operations of the Museum.  The Sweetwater County Museum participates in the 
County’s tax levies and receives grants from the County.  For Federal income tax purposes, the 
Museum is considered part of the County and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt 
from Federal income taxes.  The Museum is a discretely presented governmental type component 
unit.  No separate financial statements for the Sweetwater County Museum are available. 
 
The Sweetwater County Recreation Board is a seven-member board appointed by the County’s 
governing board to oversee the daily operations of the County parks and recreation centers.  The 
Sweetwater County Recreation Board participates in the County’s tax levies and receives grants 
from the County.  For Federal income tax purposes, the Recreation Board is considered part of 
the County and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The 
Recreation Board is a discretely presented governmental type component unit.  No separate 
financial statements for the Sweetwater County Recreation Board are available.   
 
The Sweetwater County Board of Health is a seven-member board three of which are appointed 
by the County’s governing board to oversee the daily operations of the County health department 
and nurses.  The Sweetwater County Board of Health participates in the County’s tax levies and 
receives grants from the County.  For Federal income tax purposes, the Board of Health is 
considered part of the County and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal 
income taxes.  The Board of Health is a discretely presented governmental type component unit.  
No separate financial statements for the Sweetwater County Board of Health are available.   
 

Government-wide and fund financial statements:  The government-wide financial statements (i.e. the 
statement of net position and statement of activities) report on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the 
County.  The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expense of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function.  Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or 
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a function, and 2) grants and contributions 
that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function. 
 
Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
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Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds.  Major individual governmental funds 
are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.  Nonmajor individual governmental 
funds are reported in a combined column. 
 
Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation:  The government-wide 
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the 
year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Government fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectable within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities in the current period.  For this purpose, the 
County considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current 
fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  However, expenditures related to compensated absences are recorded only when payment is 
due. 
 
Those revenues susceptible to accrual are cigarette taxes, various grants, interest revenue and charges for 
services.  Sales taxes collected and held by the State at year end on behalf of the government are also 
recognized as revenue.  Fines and permits are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not 
measurable until received in cash. 
 
Governmental fund:  The County reports the following major governmental fund: 
 

The general fund is the general operating fund of the County.  All general tax revenues and other 
receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund are accounted for 
in this fund.  The general operating expenditures, the fixed charges, and the capital improvement 
costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the general fund. 
 

The County’s nonmajor governmental funds include special revenue funds used to account for resources 
legally restricted to expenditure for specified current operating purposes.  Included as nonmajor special 
revenue funds of the County are the State/County Road Fund, the CDC Tax Fund, the Jail Tax Fund, and 
the County Road Improvements Tax Fund. 
 
Proprietary fund:  This fund type accounts for County activities that are similar to business operations in 
the private sector or where the reporting focus is on determining net income, financial position, and 
changes in financial position (economic resources measurement focus).  Proprietary funds distinguish 
operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally 
result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s 
principal ongoing operations.   
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The internal service fund is used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by the 
County to the County itself on a cost-reimbursement basis.  The County’s employee insurance plan 
is accounted for as an internal service fund.  The principal operating revenues of the insurance fund 
are premiums paid by participating employees.  Operating expenses for the fund are the claims 
incurred during the year and an estimate for claims incurred but not reported. 
 

Fiduciary funds:  Agency funds are used to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, including 
other governments.  Agency funds are used to account for assets that the government holds on behalf of 
others as their agent, and the County’s responsibility for these funds is fiduciary in nature. 
 
Interfund transactions:  During the normal course of operations, transactions occur between individual 
funds for goods, services, and for short-term interfund loans or transfers.  As a general rule, the effect of 
the interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Inventories:  Inventories, consisting primarily of consumable supplies, are carried at lower of cost (first-
in, first-out method) or market.  Reported inventories in governmental funds are equally offset by 
nonspendable fund balance which indicates that they do not constitute “available spendable resources” 
even though such inventories are a component of the fund balance. 
 
Deferred financing costs – Memorial Hospital:  Deferred financing costs are amortized over the period the 
related obligation is outstanding upon the completion of the project using the straight-line method. 
 
Designated net position – Memorial Hospital:  Of the $39,995,745 of unrestricted net position reported in 
2013, $14,858,498 has been designated by the Hospital’s Board of Trustees for capital acquisitions.  
Designated funds remain under the control of the Board of Trustees, which may at its discretion later use 
the funds for other purposes. 
 
Capital assets:  Capital assets include land, buildings and improvements, equipment and furnishings, 
infrastructure (roads and bridges), and construction in progress.  These assets are reported in the 
government-wide financial statements.  The County defines capital assets as assets with a cost of more 
than $10,000 for machinery and equipment, $20,000 for infrastructure and improvements, $25,000 for 
capital improvements, or $2,000 for assets acquired by the Hospital.  Assets purchased or constructed are 
stated at cost.  Donated items are recorded at fair market value at the date of donation.  Expenditures 
which increase values, or extend useful lives, are capitalized.  Routine maintenance and repairs are 
charged to expense in the year incurred.  Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives 
using the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives for the major classes of depreciable assets are as 
follows: 
 
   Years   
 Buildings and improvements  5-50 
 Equipment and furnishings  4-20 
 Infrastructure  12-45 
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Fund balance:  The County reports fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements in one of 
the following five categories:  1) Nonspendable fund balance represents amounts that are not in spendable 
form for which the County includes prepaid items, inventories, and the long-term portion of notes 
receivable; 2) Restricted fund balance represents amounts constrained to a specific purpose by their 
providers, through constitutional provisions, or by enabling legislation; 3) Committed fund balance 
represents amounts constrained to a specific purpose by the County Commissioners through formal 
motion.  Amounts reported as committed cannot be used for other purpose unless the County 
Commissioners make another formal motion; 4) Assigned fund balance represents amounts constrained 
by the County’s intent to use them for a specific purpose.  Although the County does not have a policy 
specific to assigned fund balance, other County policies authorize certain individuals to enter into 
purchase orders which may result in encumbrances at year end; and 5) Unassigned fund balance 
represents amounts that have not been restricted, committed or assigned to a specific purpose. 
 
As of June 30, 2013, the County does not have a policy on the order in which unrestricted (committed, 
assigned, or unassigned) resources are to be used when any of these amounts are available for 
expenditure.  As a result, the County assumes the default approach that resources be used in the following 
order: committed, assigned, and unassigned. 
 
Restricted funds:  Funds legally restricted for specific purposes are reported as restricted funds.  These 
funds are included in the net position balance of the Jail Tax Fund, SC Road Fund, CDC Tax Fund, and 
County Road Improvements Tax Fund, as well as other state and county road reimbursements.  When 
both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the County’s policy to use restricted 
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
Net Position – Memorial Hospital:  Net position of the Hospital is classified in three components.  Net 
position invested in capital assets consist of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by 
the current balances of any outstanding borrowings used to finance the purchase or construction of those 
assets.  Restricted for debt service and reserve net position and Restricted by contributors and grantors 
for Capital Acquisition is the non-capital net position that must be used for a particular purpose, as 
specified by creditors, grantors, or contributors external to the Hospital.  Unrestricted net position is the 
remaining net position that does not meet the definition of invested in capital assets or restricted. 
  
Compensated absences:  Employees may accumulate and carryforward earned but unused sick leave up to 
a maximum of 120 days.  Employees are paid 25% of the balance of their unused sick days upon 
voluntary or involuntary termination of employment at the County, but are forfeited at Memorial 
Hospital.  Accrued unused vacation days are paid in full upon termination.  All vacation pay is accrued 
when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.   
 
Risk management – Memorial Hospital:  The Hospital is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft 
of, damage to, and destruction of assets; business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries 
and illnesses; natural disasters; medical malpractice; and employee health, dental and accident benefits.  
Commercial insurance coverage is purchased for claims arising from such matters.  Settled claims have 
not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the three preceding years. 
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Charity care - Memorial Hospital:  To fulfill its mission of community service, the Hospital provides care 
to patients who meet certain criteria under its charity care policy without charge or at amounts less than 
its established rates.  Because the Hospital does not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as 
charity care, they are not reported as net patient service revenue. 
 
The Hospital maintains records to identify and monitor the level of charity care it provides.  These records 
include the amount of charges foregone for services and supplies furnished under its charity care policy 
and equivalent service statistics.  The amount of charges foregone, based on established rates, was 
approximately $2,336,000 for the year ended June 30, 2013. 
 
Cash and investments:  Cash consists of demand deposit accounts, money market accounts and petty cash.  
Investments are carried at fair value and consist primarily of certificates of deposit and United States 
Government agencies bonds. 
 
Estimates:  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.  Estimates also 
affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 
 
Noncurrent cash and investments – Memorial Hospital:  Interest and dividends are included in 
nonoperating revenues when earned.  Interest earnings on borrowed proceeds for capital acquisition are 
capitalized.   
 
The Hospital’s investments are maintained in accordance with Wyoming State Statute 9-4-831.  This 
statute limits the types of investments the Hospital may invest in as listed in Section 9-4-831(a).  The 
Hospital has adopted an investment policy as directed under Section 9-4-831(h). 
 
Restricted investments consist of funds restricted in accordance with bond indenture agreements and 
funds restricted by donor for an endowment and purchase of equipment.  Restricted investments that are 
available for obligations classified as current liabilities are reported in current assets. 
 
Notes receivable – Memorial Hospital:  Notes receivable are stated at principal amounts and are 
uncollateralized.  Payments on notes receivable are allocated to the outstanding principal and accrued 
interest balances.  Management reviews all notes receivable periodically and estimates a portion, if any, 
of the balance that will not be collected. 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments 

 
Cash and investments as of June 30, 2013 as classified in the accompanying financial statements consist 
of the following: 
 

Statement of Net Position:
Primary Agency Mental Events Library

Government Funds Health Complex System Nonmajor
Cash and investments:

Deposits with financial 
institutions 17,870,350$   9,405,860$   4,088,517$    1,353,821$    1,455,312$    1,249,431$    

Wyoming Government Invest-
ment Fund -                      -                    -                    -                    37,565           -                    

Investments:
FHLB 14,221,355     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
FNMA 12,534,579     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
FFCB 465,860          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
FHLMC 2,936,440       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total cash and investments 48,028,584$   9,405,860$   4,088,517$    1,353,821$    1,492,877$    1,249,431$    

Governmental Type Component Units

 
Investments authorized by the County’s investment policy:  The County follows the guidelines set forth in 
Wyoming State Statute 9-4-831 as it relates to the investment of public funds.  The County’s investment 
policy requires investments to comply with State statutes, which generally allows the County to invest in 
U.S., state and local government securities and accounts of any bank and savings associations which are 
federally insured.  All investments made during the year were made within these statutory limits.  The 
County’s investment policy does not contain any specific provisions intended to limit the County’s 
exposure to interest rate risk, credit risk or concentration of credit risk. 
 
Part of the Library System’s investment activity is conducted in a local government investment pool.  The 
Wyoming Government Investment Fund (WGIF) was established pursuant to the Wyoming Statutory 
Trust Act.  Shares of this fund are offered exclusively to Wyoming governmental entities.  The fair value 
of the Library System’s position in this fund is the same as the value of the pool shares. 
 
Credit risk:  Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to 
the holder of the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization.   
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The credit risk for the County’s investments is presented as follows: 
 

Credit Market
Rating Value

Category:
FHLB AAA 14,221,355  $   
FNMA AAA  12,534,579      
FFCB AAA 465,860          
FHLMC AAA  2,936,440        

 

Under the investment agreement with WGIF, the Library System has invested monies at a fixed contract 
rate of interest.  The WGIF fund received an AAAm rating by Standard & Poor’s (S&P) indicating that 
“safety is excellent,” and the pool has “superior capacity to maintain principal value and limit exposure to 
loss.” 
 
Custodial credit risk:  Custodial credit risk for deposits and certificates of deposit is the risk that, in the 
event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the County will not be able to recover its deposits 
or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  Certain 
deposits held in County bank accounts are insured by Federal depository insurance or are collateralized 
with securities held by the custodian bank under safekeeping or Federal Reserve receipts in the name of 
the County and the financial institution.  As of June 30, 2013, the primary government had bank balances 
on deposit of $18,228,312, which were fully collateralized or insured, with the exception of under-
collateralization in the amount of $109,540 at one bank.  As of June 30, 2013, the Agency Funds had 
bank balances on deposit of $9,405,860, which were fully collateralized or insured.  As of June 30, 2013, 
the governmental type component units of the County had bank balances on deposit of $8,772,619, which 
were fully collateralized or insured.  
 
The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g. 
broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or 
collateral securities that are in the possession of another party.  With respect to investments, custodial 
credit risk generally applies only to direct investments in marketable securities.  As of June 30, 2013, all 
investment securities were held by either of the County’s two custodians and registered in the County’s 
name.  The County does not have a formal investment policy for custodial credit risk.  
 
Concentration of credit risk:  Because there is minimal credit risk associated with investments issued by 
the U.S. government agencies or investments in government investment pools, which include all of the 
County’s investments, no further disclosure regarding concentrations of credit risk is required. 
 
Interest rate risk:  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the 
fair value of an investment.  A majority of the bonds held in the County’s investment portfolio have call 
structures allowing the issuer to call that bond at specific times during the life of the bond.  These bonds 
are purchased because they add yield compared to buying a non-callable bond.  
 
The County has chosen the segmented time distribution method for its Interest Rate Disclosure.  Maturity 
assumptions have been made using a matrix analyzing interest rates versus final maturity dates of these 
callable securities.  The maturity assumptions or average life of the County’s securities are displayed in 
the Interest Rate Risk Table.  
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Less Than 1 - 5 5 - 10 More Than
 Market  1 Year  Years  Years  10 Years 

FHLB 14,221,355  $   -$                  -$                  13,761,210  $   460,145  $        
FNMA 12,534,579       1,002,590        257,473          10,275,443     999,073           
FFCB 465,860            -                   -                  465,860          -                   
FHLMC 2,936,440         1,064,080        -                  1,872,360       -                   

30,158,234  $   2,066,670  $     257,473  $        26,374,873  $   1,459,218  $     

Interest Rate Risk Organized by Investment Type Using Segmented Time Distribution
As of June 30, 2013

Primary Government

 
The WGIF’s investment policy limits its exposure to market value fluctuations due to changes in interest 
rates by requiring that the fund’s portfolio maintain a dollar-weighted average maturity of less than 60 
days.   
 
Highly sensitive securities:  The County holds investments that are classified as “highly sensitive.”  These 
securities, because of their specific type and structure, are rate sensitive as market conditions change.  
Step-up bonds are structured so that the bonds, at strategic times during their life, will step-up to a higher 
interest rate if they are not called.  The portfolio holds $20,716,284, or 69%, of the securities in step-up 
structured bonds. 
 
 

Note 3. Cash and Investments – Memorial Hospital 

 
Interest rate risk:  The Hospital’s investment policy limits investments to maturities of 397 days or less to 
manage exposure to fair value losses arising from changing interest rates. 
 
Credit risk:  State law limits investments in commercial paper of corporations to be rated by Moody’s as 
P-1 or Standard and Poor’s as A1.  The Hospital has no investment policy that would further limit its 
investment options.  As of June 30, 2013, the Hospital’s investment in the WYO-STAR State Investment 
Pool was not rated by any investor service. 
 
Concentration of credit risk:  The Hospital places no limit on the amount the Hospital may invest with 
any one issuer.   
 
The carrying value of deposits and investments is included in the Hospital’s balance sheet as follows: 
 

Carrying value:
Deposits 20,957,924  $   
WYO-STAR State Pooled Funds 10,508,176       
Investments 13,543,704       

Total deposits and investments 45,009,804  $   
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Interest income:  Interest income of $272,431 for the year ended June 30, 2013 is made up entirely of 
interest income from deposits and patient accounts at collection. 
 
 

Note 4. Accounts Receivable 

 
Accounts receivable consists primarily of property taxes receivable and interest on delinquent property 
taxes.  Receivables also exist relating to accrued interest and services provided.  The following schedule 
summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of accounts receivable at June 30, 2013: 
 

Primary Mental Events Library
Government Health Complex System Nonmajor

Taxes and interest on taxes 25,634,313  $    713,453  $       1,870,210  $    3,116,179  $     731,131  $         
Accounts receivable 138,810             2,608,985        4,470               180                   123,634             
Allowance for doubtful accounts -                     (1,789,536)       -                   -                    (2,746)               

Accounts receivable, net 25,773,123  $    1,532,902  $    1,874,680  $    3,116,359  $     852,019  $         

Governmental Type Component Units

 
Mental Health and the County Health Board provide services to patients under the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs, on the basis of prospectively determined contractual rates related to diagnosis or 
costs incurred.  The programs’ administrative procedures preclude final determination of amounts due 
Mental Health and the County until such time as the appropriate reports have been reviewed and settled 
by the respective administrative agencies.  In addition, laws and regulations governing the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation.  As a result, there is at least a reasonable 
possibility that recorded estimates will change by a material amount in the near term. 
 
Memorial Hospital:  Accounts receivable at June 30, 2013 consists of the following: 
 

Patient receivables:
Receivable from patients and their insurance carriers 9,748,241  $     
Receivable from Medicare 1,416,608         
Receivable from Medicaid 234,248            

Total patient accounts receivable 11,399,097       
Less:  estimated allowance for uncollectible amounts (3,900,000)        

Net patient accounts receivable 7,499,097         
Other 1,970,425         

Accounts receivable, net 9,469,522  $     
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Note 5. Property Taxes 

 
Property taxes are assessed based on property values on January 1.  Taxes are levied on July 31 and are 
payable in two installments on September 1 and March 1.  The County bills and collects its own property 
taxes and also taxes for taxing entities within the County.  Collections of property taxes for these entities 
and remittance of them are accounted for in the Agency Fund.  County property tax revenues are 
recognized when levied to the extent that they result in current receivables, that is, collected within 60 
days of the fiscal year end.  Property taxes which are not current receivables are offset by deferred 
revenues on the fund financials, but are reported on the government-wide financial statements as revenue 
and receivables, with no amount being deferred when levied.  Property taxes receivable are recognized at 
the assessment date; however, revenue is not recognized until the levy date. 
 
 

Note 6. Retirement Plan 

 
The County participates in the State of Wyoming Retirement System (System), a statewide cost-sharing 
multiple-employer public employee retirement system.  The System issues a publicly available financial 
report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.  This information is 
available from the Wyoming Retirement System; copies can be obtained at 6101 Yellowstone Road, Suite 
500, Cheyenne, Wyoming 82002. 
 
Substantially all County full-time or regular part-time employees are eligible to participate in the System.  
Employees qualify for a retirement allowance if they are 60 years old and have at least four years of 
service, or they may retire at age 50 and have at least four years of service but be subject to a reduction in 
benefits of 5% for each year below age 60, or they may retire at any age if they have 25 years of service 
or when a combination of age and years of service equal 85. 
 
Generally, for individuals with creditable service prior to July 1, 1981, the individuals received benefits 
based on the larger of a money purchase benefit structure or a formula basis.  The formula consists of 
multiplying the number of years of service by 2.125% for the members’ first 15 years of service and 
2.25% for all years after 15 by the final average salary.  The final average salary consists of the three 
highest continuous years of service. 
 
Benefits for individuals hired after July 1, 1981, are calculated only by the formula method. 
 
The System also provides disability retirement to any employee who becomes permanently incapacitated, 
mentally or physically, and who cannot continue in the performance of his duties.  Benefits are 
established by State statute. 
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Contributions and covered payroll:  State statutes require the County to contribute 7.12% of the 
employee’s gross annual salary to the retirement system and employees are required to contribute 7% of 
their gross annual salary.  The County has followed the allowed practice of paying the employee’s share 
of contributions for full-time employees for a total contribution of 14.12%.  The general County’s 
expenditures for employee pension costs during the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were 
$1,395,747, $1,375,594 and $1,420,987, respectively, which equaled 100% of the required contributions 
for each year. 
 
Law enforcement personnel of the County sheriff’s department participate in a separate retirement plan 
through the System.  The plan requires the qualifying employees to contribute 8.6% of their gross pay to 
the retirement system and the County is required to contribute 8.6% of each participant’s salary.  The 
County has followed the allowed practice of paying the employee’s share of contributions for a total 
contribution of 17.2%.  The general County’s expenditures for law enforcement personnel pension costs 
during the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $799,602, $837,674 and $918,454, 
respectively, which equaled 100% of the required contributions for each year. 
 
Component units of the County also participate in the public employee retirement system.  The following 
schedule summarizes the contributions for the year ended June 30, 2013, which equaled 100% of the 
required contributions for that year: 

Mental Events Library
Health Complex System Nonmajor

Fiscal Year 2012-2013 709,282  $         116,481  $       262,361  $       201,439  $        

Component Units

 
 
 

Note 7. Employee Benefits – Memorial Hospital 

 
Defined contribution plan:  The Hospital has a Section 457 defined contribution pension plan that is 
available to all qualified Hospital employees.  The Hospital’s contribution to the plan is based on a 100% 
match of employee contributions up to a maximum of 7% of participant salaries.  The Hospital’s 
matching contributions are deposited into the 401(a) plan described below.  Employees are eligible to 
participate in the plan upon completion of three months of service and reaching the age of 21. 
 
The Hospital also has a Section 401(a) defined contribution pension plan that is available to all qualified 
Hospital employees.  The Hospital contributes up to 7% of participant salaries to the account.  Employees 
are eligible to participate in the plan upon completion of 90 days of service and reaching the age of 21. 
 
Total pension expense for the year ended June 30, 2013 was $831,414. 
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Note 8. General Obligation Debt 

 
At June 30, 2013, the County had no general obligation debt outstanding. 
 
The June 30, 2013 legal debt margin of the County is computed as follows: 
 

Assessed valuation, June 30, 2012 2,853,198,681  $     

Debt limit, 2% of assessed valuation 57,063,974  $          
Debt applicable to debt limit -                          

Legal debt margin 57,063,974  $          
 

 

Note 9. Capital Assets 

 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows: 
 
Primary government: 

Balance Deletions/ Balance
June 30, 2012 Additions Transfers June 30, 2013

General Government
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 1,072,201$       22,342$            -$                      1,094,543$       
Construction in progress 6,926,031         949,984            (5,250,916)        2,625,099         

Total capital assets not
being depreciated 7,998,232         972,326            (5,250,916)        3,719,642         

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 29,032,391       228,614            3,218,398         32,479,403       
Equipment and furnishings 17,297,037       1,447,156         (1,068,141)        17,676,052       
Infrastructure 108,638,400     1,679,631         2,032,518         112,350,549     

Total capital assets being
depreciated 154,967,828     3,355,401         4,182,775         162,506,004     

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (9,046,928)        (799,240)           -                        (9,846,168)        
Equipment and furnishings (11,308,097)      (1,450,093)        952,626            (11,805,564)      
Infrastructure (75,890,802)      (3,378,989)        -                        (79,269,791)      

Total accumulated depreciation (96,245,827)      (5,628,322)        952,626            (100,921,523)    
Total capital assets being

depreciated, net 58,722,001       (2,272,921)        5,135,401         61,584,481       

Governmental activities
capital assets, net 66,720,233$    (1,300,595)$     (115,515)$         65,304,123$    
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 
 
Governmental activities: 
 

General government 773,759  $       
Public safety 773,014          
Road and bridge  4,081,549        

Total depreciation, governmental activities 5,628,322  $     

 
 
Discretely presented governmental type component units:  Capital assets activity for the year ended June 
30, 2013 was as follows: 
 

Balance Deletions/ Balance
June 30, 2012 Additions Transfers June 30, 2013

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Construction in progress 3,154,128  $     1,051,586  $     (3,983,690)  $    222,024  $        

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements  30,666,622        42,320               3,983,690          34,692,632       
Equipment and furnishings  3,512,275          32,873              (157,554)            3,387,594         

Total capital assets being
depreciated  34,178,897        75,193               3,826,136          38,080,226       

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (19,451,495)      (886,616)           -                    (20,338,111)      
Equipment and furnishings (2,622,783)        (175,768)            157,554            (2,640,997)        

Total accumulated depreciation (22,074,278)      (1,062,384)         157,554            (22,979,108)      
Total capital assets being

depreciated, net  12,104,619       (987,191)            3,983,690          15,101,118       

Government activities
capital assets, net 15,258,747  $  64,395  $         -$                  15,323,142  $  

 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the component units as follows: 
 
Governmental activities: 
 

Health, recreation, and welfare 1,062,384  $     

Total depreciation, governmental activities 1,062,384  $     
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Balance Deletions/ Balance
June 30, 2012 Additions Transfers June 30, 2013

Business-Type Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 18,245  $          -$                  -$                  18,245  $          
Construction in progress 4,817,779         10,139,800       (6,485,148)        8,472,431         

Total capital assets not
being depreciated 4,836,024         10,139,800       (6,485,148)        8,490,676         

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements  28,333,398       -                    -                     28,333,398       
Equipment and furnishings  65,715,026        6,453,565         (555,981)            71,612,610       

Total capital assets being
depreciated  94,048,424        6,453,565         (555,981)            99,946,008       

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (9,222,761)        (997,742)           -                    (10,220,503)      
Equipment and furnishings (26,823,467)      (5,254,191)         555,981            (31,521,677)      

Total accumulated depreciation (36,046,228)      (6,251,933)         555,981            (41,742,180)      
Total capital assets being

depreciated, net  58,002,196        201,632            -                     58,203,828       

Business-type activities
capital assets, net 62,838,220  $  10,341,432  $  (6,485,148)  $   66,694,504  $   

 
Construction in progress at June 30, 2013 represents the second phase of construction of a Medical Office 
Building.  This project is expected to be completed in fiscal year 2014, with a gross maximum price of 
approximately $14.9 million. 
 
 

Note 10. Joint Powers Agreements 

 
Airport Board: 
 
Under a joint powers agreement, the County and the City of Rock Springs share in the funding of the 
Rock Springs-Sweetwater County Airport.  The Airport is not financially dependent on the County.  The 
transactions of the Airport are not included in these financial statements. 
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Rock Springs, Green River, Sweetwater County Joint Powers Water Board: 
 
Under certain provisions of Wyoming State Statutes, the County has entered into an agreement with the 
City of Rock Springs and the City of Green River to form a Joint Powers Board for the purchase, 
financing, rehabilitation, and operation of a water supply distribution system for domestic and other uses 
serving Green River, Wyoming, Rock Springs, Wyoming and other areas in Sweetwater County, 
Wyoming. 
 
The Board consists of five members; two members from Green River, two members from Rock Springs, 
and one member from Sweetwater County. 
 
Once the system began operations, the participating cities became responsible for the maintenance, 
operation, staffing, rate setting, and billing for each distribution system as well as construction of storage 
facilities.  The cities lease these facilities from the Board on a year-to-year basis subject to annual 
appropriations by the cities. 
 
The financial transactions of this board are not included in these financial statements. 
 
Rock Springs, Green River, Sweetwater County Combined  
    Communications Joint Powers Board Agreement: 
 
Under certain provisions of Wyoming State Statutes, the County has entered into an agreement with the 
City of Rock Springs and the City of Green River to form a Joint Powers Board for the establishment of a 
Combined Communications Center (CCCJPB).  The purpose of the CCCJPB is to provide an efficient, 
orderly and economically feasible method of planning, financing, constructing, operating, and 
maintaining a Combined Communications Center to maximize efficiency and coordination in 
communications and dispatching between the Sweetwater County Sheriff’s Department, the Rock Springs 
Police Department, the Green River Police Department, and other law enforcement agencies. 
 
The CCCJPB consists of nine members; three members from Sweetwater County and three members 
from each of the participating cities. 
 
The financial transactions of the CCCJPB are not included in these financial statements.  However, 
additional financial information of the CCCJPB may be obtained by contacting the CCCJPB Treasurer, 
Lisa M. Tarufelli, at the City of Rock Springs, 212 D Street, Rock Springs, Wyoming 82901. 
 
Sweetwater County 2013 Specific Purpose Tax Joint Powers Board Agreement: 
 
Under certain provisions of Wyoming State Statutes, the County entered into a joint powers agreement 
with the Cities of Rock Springs, Green River, Granger, Superior, and Wamsutter, and the Castle Rock 
Special Hospital District to form the Sweetwater County 2013 Specific Purpose Tax Joint Powers Board 
(the “Board”) to finance construction of infrastructure of the participating entities in Sweetwater County 
using 1% specific purpose sales and use tax proceeds.  The agreement includes lease payments which are 
required to be made to the Board.  The lease payments are to be funded using proceeds from the 1% 
specific purpose sales and use tax.  No County projects have been started at June 30, 2013.  



 
 
 
SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 
 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

40 

The County’s lease payments are due as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year:
2014 508,874  $               
2015 695,058                  
2016 758,526                  
2017 829,449                  
2018 953,766                  
2019 528,009                  

4,273,682  $            
 

 
The Board consists of seven members: one member from the County and one member from each of the 
six participating entities.  During the year ended June 30, 2013, the County recorded 1% specific purpose 
sales and use tax revenues of $212,190 to finance various road improvement projects. 
 
The financial transactions of the Board are not included in these financial statements.  However, 
additional financial information of the Board may be obtained by contacting Sweetwater County Board 
Member, Reid West, at Sweetwater County, 80 West Flaming Gorge Way, Green River, Wyoming 
82935. 
 
 

Note 11. Liability for Compensated Absences 

 
As described in Note 1, the general County and various County component units allow the accumulation 
of vested vacation and sick pay benefits, subject to set maximum hours.  The liability recorded for 
compensated absences consists of the following: 
 

Primary Mental Events Library
Government Health Complex System Nonmajor

Beginning balance 1,419,502  $      219,516  $       118,188  $       156,361  $        103,238  $         
Additions 1,228,223          535,858           83,611             155,424            114,503             
Reductions (1,264,678)         (547,246)          (97,911)            (157,765)           (110,177)           

Ending balance 1,383,047  $      208,128  $       103,888  $       154,020  $        107,564  $         

Due within one year 1,264,678  $      208,128  $       103,888  $       154,020  $        107,564  $         
Due in more than one year 118,369             -                   -                   -                    -                    

Governmental Type Component Units
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Note 12. Obligations under Capital Lease 

 
During the year ended June 30, 2013, the County entered into one new lease agreement to acquire 
equipment and vehicles.  The terms of this lease is, in effect, a purchase of the related assets contingent on 
the County’s ability to appropriate funds as required by State statutes.  The assets acquired through capital 
leases are as follows: 
 

Governmental
Asset Activities

Machinery and equipment 1,065,110  $     
Less accumulated depreciation (90,598)            

974,512  $        

 
 
 

June 30, 2013
Primary Government Balance

1.45% lease to acquire heavy equipment and vehicles, payable
in three annual installments of $328,669 643,220  $       

643,220  $        

 
The following schedule summarizes the debt service requirements of this lease to maturity: 
 

Primary
Government

Year ended June 30,
2014 328,669  $       
2015 328,669           

Total minimum lease payments 657,338            
Less: Amount representing interest (14,118)            

Present value of net minimum lease payments  643,220            
Less: Capital lease payable, due within one year (319,280)          

Capital leases payable, due in more than one year 323,940  $        
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Note 13. Obligations Under Notes Payable and Subsequent Event 

 
The Mental Health Board carries a $1,500,000 note payable related to the purchase of land and a building.  
The agreement is contingent on the Mental Health Board’s ability to appropriate funds as required by 
State statutes.  The agreement initially bore interest at 6% with monthly payments of $16,692 due the first 
of the month from July 1, 2004 until June 1, 2014.  However, beginning July 1, 2009 the interest rate was 
adjusted to equal the published “Wall Street Journal” prime rate plus 2%, being 5.25% as of June 30, 
2013.  In addition, beginning July 1, 2009, monthly payments were reduced to $12,513 through June 1, 
2014. 
 
The following schedule summarizes the debt service requirements of this note to maturity: 
 

Year ended June 30,
2014 134,097  $        

134,097  $        
 

 
During February 2003, the Mental Health Board entered into an agreement to lease part of the building 
discussed above to a third party.  The agreement was originally for one year and has been extended to 
January 2014.  Monthly rental income is $10,000.  
 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the County entered into a loan agreement with the Events Complex 
so the Events Complex could purchase two 40 meter by 70 meter Clear Span Tents.  The interest-free 
loan from the County to the Events Complex of $824,000 is to be repaid in quarterly installments of 
$41,200 over a 60-month period.  The first installment was due in November 2012 with the final 
installment due in August 2017.  The Events Complex only drew down $312,000 of the $824,000 
available loan during fiscal year 2012.  The Events Complex drew down the remaining $512,000 on the 
loan in fiscal year 2013.  As of June 30, 2013, the outstanding balance on the loan was $700,400. 
 
The following schedule summarizes the debt service requirements of this note to maturity: 
 

Year ended June 30,
2014 164,800  $        
2015 164,800            
2016 164,800            
2017 164,800            
2018  41,200             

700,400  $        
 

 
To assist in covering operating cash flow needs, the Events Complex entered into a tax anticipation 
warrant on August 12, 2013.  The Events Complex can draw up to 75% of the anticipated 2013-2014 
fiscal year property tax revenue remaining uncollected, up to $1,969,775 at any given time.  All funds 
borrowed must be repaid by June 30, 2014. 
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Note 14. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 

 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance Due Within
June 30, 2012 Additions Reductions June 30, 2013 One Year

Primary Government
Capital leases 527,223  $         968,374  $       (852,377)  $      643,220  $        319,280  $         

Discretely Presented Governmental
Type Component Units
Mental Health, note payable 273,225             -                   (139,128)          134,097            134,097             
Events Complex, note payable 312,000             512,000           (123,600)          700,400            164,800             
Events Complex, capital leases 34,978               -                   (34,978)            -                    -                    

 
 

Note 15. Long-Term Debt – Memorial Hospital 

 
Long-term debt for Memorial Hospital consists of:  
 

June 30, June 30,
2012 Additions Reductions 2013

Hospital Revenue Bonds,
Series 2006B 18,245,000  $  -$                 (18,245,000)  $  -$                  
Series 2008 7,305,000        -                   (7,305,000)        -                    
Series 2013A -                   26,790,000      -                    26,790,000        
Series 2013B -                   16,145,000      -                    16,145,000        

25,550,000      42,935,000      (25,550,000)      42,935,000        

Deferred Loss on Refinancing -                   (728,989)          -                    (728,989)           

Series 2013A Bond Premium -                   1,414,697        -                    1,414,697          

-$                 685,708  $       -$                  685,708             
Less:

Current maturities (1,400,000)        

Total long-term debt, net of current maturities 42,220,708  $    
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The terms and due dates of the Hospital’s long-term debt at June 30, 2013 are as follows: 
 

Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 
2013A, dated June 20, 2013 were issued to refund principal amounts related to the Series 2006B and 
Series 2008 Hospital Revenue Bonds.  As part of the refunding, a loss on refunding was incurred, 
considering the principal payments of the 2006B and 2008 bonds, actual cash received as part of the 
issuance, and unamortized premiums and issuance costs related to the 2006B, 2008, and 2013 bonds.  
The loss on refinancing of $728,989 is amortized using the effective interest rate method over the term 
of the 2013A bonds.  The recorded balance at June 30, 2013, includes a bond premium of $1,414,697, 
which will be amortized using the effective interest method over the term of the 2013A bonds.  
Interest on the 2013A bonds is due annually to September 2038 at a 5% rate.  Bonds are secured by 
Hospital revenues. 
 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 
2013B, dated June 20, 2013 were issued to fund the building of the Medical Office Building and 
replace funds for previous expenditures.  Interest is due annually to September 2038 at a 3.5% rate.  
Bonds are secured by Hospital revenues. 
 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Bonds Series 2006B, variable 
rate bonds, 0.43% as of June 30, 2012, due in varying annual installments to September 2037, secured 
by Hospital revenues were refunded by the issuance of the Series 2013A bonds. 
 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Bonds Series 2008, variable 
rate bonds, 0.36% as of June 30, 2012, due in varying annual installments to September 2037, secured 
by Hospital revenues were refunded by the issuance of the Series 2013A bonds. 

 
The County (Hospital) was required to have Letters of Credit for the Series 2006A (which have been 
retired), Series 2006B and Series 2008 Bonds.  This requirement was made as bond holders had the 
ability to redeem the bonds at any time.  In such circumstance where the bonds could not have been 
remarketed or there was a difference in the amount redeemed and the amount remarketed, the County 
(Hospital) would draw on the Letter of Credit.  The beneficiary was the bond debt holder, Wells Fargo.  
The Letters of Credit are no longer required upon issuance of the 2013 bonds.   
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Scheduled principal and interest payments on long-term debt are as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30, Principal Interest Total

2014 1,400,000  $    1,432,940  $    2,832,940  $     
2015 1,415,000       1,818,533       3,233,533         
2016 1,470,000       1,768,137       3,238,137         
2017 1,520,000       1,714,277       3,234,277         
2018 1,575,000       1,660,170       3,235,170         
2019-2023 8,765,000       7,410,291       16,175,291       
2024-2028 6,815,000       5,879,375       12,694,375       
2029-2033 8,750,000       3,943,750       12,693,750       
2034-2038 11,225,000     1,459,375       12,684,375       

42,935,000  $   27,086,848  $   70,021,848  $   

 
 

Note 16. Operating Lease Commitments 

 
The County has entered into several lease agreements for copiers and postage machines.  The leases vary 
in ranges extending up to five years.  The total minimum rental commitment at June 30, 2013 under these 
leases is as follows: 
 

2014 37,962  $          
2015  3,308              

41,270  $          
 

 
 

Note 17. Contingencies and Commitments 

 
The County and several of its component units participate in a number of Federally assisted grant 
programs which are monitored by various granting agencies.  Expenditures may be disallowed by the 
granting agencies if the County is not in compliance with applicable laws, regulations, or specific grant 
requirements.  The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies 
cannot be determined at this time, although the County expects the amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 
Litigation:  The County has multiple claims and pending legal proceedings that generally involve the 
operations of the County.  These proceedings are, in the opinion of management, ordinary routine matters 
incidental to the normal business conducted by the County.  In the opinion of management and the 
County legal counsel, such proceedings are substantially covered by insurance, and the ultimate 
disposition of such proceedings are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the County’s 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
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Risk of loss:  The County and its component units are subject to risk of loss from various events, 
including torts, theft, damage to assets, business interruption, errors and omissions, and job-related 
injuries to employees, as well as acts of God. 
 
The County and its component units have purchased commercial insurance and workers’ compensation 
coverage to minimize their risks of loss.  The County has not had significant settlements exceeding 
insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  The County has had no significant reductions in 
insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year. 
 
Employees of the County are covered by the County’s medical self-insurance plan.  The County’s costs 
for this plan are reflected in the funds paying the coverage, premiums and administrative costs.  The self-
insurance fund is reported as an internal service fund in the accompanying financial statements.  The 
County has a contract with a third-party administrator to process payments.  The County also maintains a 
stop-loss policy to limit the potential for individual and aggregate claims.  Management has estimated an 
accrual for incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims.   
 
At June 30, 2013, the IBNR was $500,265.  Changes in the IBNR from fiscal years 2013 and 2012 were 
as follows: 
 

Beginning of Estimated At Fiscal
Fiscal Year Claims Claim Year-End

Liability Incurred Payments Liability

Fiscal Year 2011-2012 465,000  $         4,064,033  $    (4,064,033)  $   465,000  $        

Fiscal Year 2012-2013 465,000  $         4,251,571  $    (4,216,306)  $   500,265  $        
 

 
 

Note 18. Insurance and Litigation – Memorial Hospital 

 
Malpractice insurance:  The Hospital has malpractice insurance coverage to provide protection for 
professional liability losses on a claims-made basis subject to a limit of $1 million per claim and an 
annual aggregate limit of $5 million.  Should the claims-made policy not be renewed or replaced with 
equivalent insurance, claims based on occurrences during its term, but reported subsequently, would be 
uninsured. 
 
Self-funded health insurance:  The Hospital self-funds health benefits for eligible employees and their 
dependents.  Health insurance expense is recorded on an accrual basis.  An accrued liability is recorded in 
the financial statements which estimates the claims incurred but not yet reported and claims reported but 
not yet paid.  The Hospital has stop loss insurance to cover catastrophic claims.  The Hospital expensed 
amounts representing the employer’s portion of actual claims paid, adjusted for the actuarially determined 
estimates of liabilities relating to claims resulting from services provided prior to the respective fiscal 
period end.  The Hospital recognized approximately $3,426,000 and $2,976,000 of expense during the 
years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  The estimated liability relating to self-funded health 
insurance was $400,000 as of June 30, 2013 and 2012. 
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Litigations, claims and disputes:  The Hospital is subject to the usual contingencies in the normal course 
of operations relating to the performance of its tasks under its various programs.  In the opinion of 
management, the ultimate settlement of litigation, claims, and disputes in process will not be material to 
the financial position of the Hospital. 
 
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of Federal, state, and local 
governments.  Compliance with these laws and regulations, specifically those relating to the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs, can be subject to government review and interpretation, as well as regulatory actions 
unknown and unasserted at this time.  Federal government activity has increased with respect to 
investigations and allegations concerning possible violations by health care providers of regulations, 
which could result in the imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments of 
previously billed and collected revenues from patient services.  Management believes that the Hospital is 
in substantial compliance with current laws and regulations. 
 

Note 19. Conduit Debt Obligations 

 
From time to time, the County has issued Industrial Revenue Bonds to provide financial assistance to 
private-sector entities for the acquisition and construction of industrial and commercial facilities deemed 
to be in the public interest.  The bonds are secured by the property financed and are payable solely from 
payments received on the underlying mortgage loans.  Upon repayment of bonds, ownership of the 
acquired facilities transfers to the private-sector entity served by the bond issuance.  Neither the County, 
the state, nor any political subdivision thereof is obligated in any manner for repayment of the bonds.  
Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements. 
 

Note 20. Commitments 

 
As of June 30, 2013, the County has entered into several construction/engineering contracts resulting in 
commitments for future capital expenditures.  The major projects are listed below.  Although portions of 
the projects may have been completed and capitalized during 2013, the amounts below represent the 
activity pertaining to the County’s portion of the contract as a whole. 
 

Expended to Total
Date at Total Commitment at

June 30, 2013 Contract June 30, 2013
Primary Government:

CMAQ 2012 and Other Dust Control Projects -$                     500,731  $           500,731  $           
Peru Bridge 7,629                   226,400               218,771               
CDC Remodel (design) 167,078               228,450               61,372                 
CDC Remodel (construction) 176,026               1,406,600            1,230,574            
333 Broadway (design) 96,270                 320,900               224,630               

Total primary government 447,003  $           2,683,081  $        2,236,078  $        
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Note 21. Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions (OPEB) 

 
Plan description:  The County participates in one single-employer defined benefit postemployment 
healthcare plan.  Under this plan, the County allows retiring employees who meet certain age and/or 
service requirements as defined below to remain on the County’s health insurance plan, as long as the 
retiring employee pays their full premium each month, less the sum of subsidies A, B and C where such 
amounts are defined as follows:  
 

i. Subsidy A per month – a monthly factor, as shown in the following table, multiplied by the total 
number of years of service at retirement: 

Current Age Monthly Factor 
      <65        $11.50 
        65+       $  5.75 

In the event that the retiree predeceases his or her spouse, Subsidy A will be applied to reduce the 
healthcare costs for the remaining lifetime of the survivor. 
 
Subsidy A credits are not granted to participants who retire after March 15, 2011. 
 

ii. Subsidy B per month – only applies to retirees who retired prior to July 1, 2009, and provides a 
fixed monthly factor ranging from $42.02 to $157.16, depending upon the retiree’s age (under 
age 65 or 65 and above) and tier of benefits (i.e. employee only, employee and spouse, family, 
etc.).  Subsidy B is not expected to increase in the future, but will be adjusted for changes in the 
number and types of dependents covered, if and when they occur.  
 

iii. Subsidy C per month – only applies to participants who elected to retire between November 22, 
2010 and March 15, 2011 and signed the Early Retirement Agreement, and provides the Subsidy 
A monthly factor as defined in i. above.  The limit on Subsidy C payments shall be $30,000 less 
the amount of the cash incentive paid to the retiree at the time of retirement, if any. 
 

The retired employee must meet the following age and/or service requirements in order to qualify for the 
plan:  
 

i. All participants excluding law enforcement – the earlier of the following:  

a. age 60 and 8 years of service with the County, or  

b. having 8 years of service with the County and being eligible to retire with full benefits 
under the Wyoming Retirement System by meeting one of the following criteria:  

i. age 60 and 4 years of service with the Wyoming Retirement System, or 

ii. the sum age and service with the Wyoming Retirement System equals 85.  
 

ii. Law enforcement - having 8 years of service with the County and being eligible to retire with full 
benefits under the Wyoming Retirement System by meeting one of the following criteria:  

a. age 60 and 4 years of service with Wyoming Retirement System, or  

b. 20 years of law enforcement service with Wyoming Retirement System.  
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The Board of County Commissioners (the “Board”) has the authority for establishing and amending this 
plan.  This plan does not issue a separate report. 
 
Funding policy:  The County finances this program on a pay-as-you-go basis. The Board has the authority 
for establishing and amending the funding policy. 

Annual OPEB cost and net OPEB obligation:  The County’s annual other postemployment benefit 
(OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an 
amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45.  The ARC 
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year 
and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years.  
The following table shows the components of the County’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount 
actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the County’s net OPEB obligation: 
 

Annual required contribution 374,828  $               
Interest on net OPEB obligation 54,842                    
Adjustment to annual required contribution (75,478)                    

Annual OPEB cost 354,192                   
Employer contributions (156,800)                  

Increase in net OPEB obligation 197,392                   
Net OPEB obligation, beginning of year 1,218,712                

Net OPEB obligation, end of year 1,416,104  $            
 

The County’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net 
OPEB obligation for fiscal years 2013, 2012 and 2011 were as follows: 
 

2013 2012 2011

Annual OPEB cost 354,192  $               415,013  $               430,241  $               
Percentage of OPEB cost 

contributed 44.27% 29.50% 0.00%
Net OPEB obligation 1,416,104  $           1,218,712  $           926,119  $               

 



 
 
 
SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 
 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

50 

Funded status and funding progress:  The funded status of the plan as of July 1, 2010, being the actuarial 
valuation date, was as follows: 
 

Actuarial accrued liability (a) 3,911,493  $            
Actuarial value of plan assets (b) -                          
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability

(funding excess) (a) - (b) 3,911,493  $            

Funded ratio (b) / (a) 0.00%
Covered payroll (c) 22,719,300  $          
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability

(funded excess) as a percentage of
covered payroll ([(a) - (b)] / (c) 17.22%

 
 
The required schedule of funding progress immediately following the notes to the financial statements 
presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 
 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of events in the future.  Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the 
annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.   
 
Actuarial methods and assumptions:  Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as 
understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits in force at the 
valuation date.  Actuarial calculations reflect long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions 
that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of 
assets.  Significant methods and assumptions were as follows: 
 

Actuarial valuation date:   July 1, 2012 

Actuarial cost method:    Attained Age 

Amortization method:    Level Dollar Basis 

Amortization period:    27 years 

Asset valuation method:   Fair value of assets 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Discount rate:    4.5% 
Healthcare cost trend rate (HCCTR): Initial rate of 8.5%;  

Ultimate rate of 4.5%;  
Grading period of four years 

Assumed rates of increase  
    applied to retiree premiums:   Same as HCCTR 
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Note 22. Recent Pronouncements 

 
In June 2012, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued GASB Statement No. 68, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, which replaces GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting 
for Pensions by State and Local Government Employers, for most government pensions.  Statement No. 
68 requires governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize their long-term obligation for 
pension benefits as a liability for the first time, and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the 
annual costs of pension benefits.  The Statement also enhances accountability and transparency through 
revised and new note disclosures and required supplementary information (RSI).  GASB Statement No. 
68 is effective for years beginning after June 15, 2014 with the effects of changes made to comply with 
this statement reported as adjustments to prior periods.  The effect that the adoption of GASB Statement 
No. 68 will have on the County’s financial statements has not been determined. 
 
In March 2012, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and 
Liabilities.  Statement No. 65 was issued to establish accounting and financial reporting standards that 
reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain items that were 
previously reported as assets and liabilities and recognizes, as outflows of resources or inflows of 
resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities.  The requirements of this 
statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2012.  
Accounting changes adopted to conform to the provisions of this statement should be applied 
retroactively by restating financial statements, if practical, for all periods presented.  If restatement is not 
practical, the cumulative effect of applying this statement, if any, should be reported as a restatement of 
beginning net position for the earliest period restated.  The County is currently evaluating the impact that 
the provisions of this statement will have on the County’s financial statements. 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
The County’s required supplementary information includes the budgetary comparison schedule as described in the 
accompanying Note to Required Supplementary Information following the schedule and the schedule of funding 
progress. 
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues
Taxes 36,227,474  $    36,227,474  $    37,781,706  $    1,554,232  $      
Licenses and permits 1,480,687          1,480,687          1,661,899          181,212             
Intergovernmental 6,933,580          8,346,976          5,315,806          (3,031,170)         
Charges for services 939,706             939,706             1,457,097          517,391             
Investment income (loss) 427,650             427,650             (1,113,903)        (1,541,553)         
Miscellaneous 640,073             652,285             461,994             (190,291)            

Total revenues 46,649,170        48,074,778        45,564,599        (2,510,179)         

Expenditures
General government 16,977,135        16,290,938        15,149,601        1,141,337          
Public safety 14,210,257        14,413,672        13,048,594        1,365,078          
Road and bridge 4,599,326          4,599,326          4,018,027          581,299             
Health, recreation and welfare 2,574,563          3,603,844          2,943,940          659,904             
Conservation of natural resources 265,000             265,000             256,991             8,009                 
Capital outlay 6,159,625          7,038,734          4,761,327          2,277,407          

Total expenditures 44,785,906        46,211,514        40,178,480        6,033,034          

Excess of revenues over
expenditures 1,863,264          1,863,264          5,386,119          3,522,855          

Proceeds from capital leases -                    -                    968,374             968,374             
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 30,000               30,000               81,949               51,949               

Net change in fund balance 1,893,264  $     1,893,264  $     6,436,442  $     4,543,178  $     

Budgeted Amounts
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Budgets 
 
The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance – budget and actual – general fund 
presents a comparison of the legally adopted budget with actual data.  The County prepares its budget on 
a cash basis, and the revenues and expenditures presented in the aforementioned statement are on the 
modified accrual basis.  Any differences in revenues and expenditures as a result of the difference in 
accounting basis are considered immaterial.  Appropriations lapse at fiscal year end.  All budget 
amendments are approved by the County Commissioners and are presented within the final budget 
figures. 
 
The County follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements. 
 
Wyoming State Statutes require the preparation of an annual budget which provides documentation that 
all sources and uses of County resources are properly planned, budgeted, and approved.  The budget, 
upon adoption, is the legal document which places restrictions and limitations on the purposes and 
amounts for which County monies may be expended. 
 
The budget is adopted according to the following schedule: 
 

1. On or before May 15, the Budget Officer shall prepare a tentative budget for each fund and file the 
budget with the governing body. 

 
2. A summary of the tentative budget shall be entered into the minutes and the governing body shall 

publish the summary at least one week before the public hearing to adopt the budget. 
 

3. The public hearing is held on or before the third Monday in July. 
 

4. On the day of or the day following the public hearing, the County Commissioners, by resolution, 
make the necessary appropriations and adopt the budget, which subject to future amendment, shall 
be in effect for the next fiscal year. 
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Actuarial UAAL as a
Accrued Unfunded Percentage

Actuarial Actuarial Liability AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Value of (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date Assets (a) (b) (b - a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

7/1/2012 -$               3,911,493  $    3,911,493  $   0% 22,719,300  $  17.22%

7/1/2010 -$               4,613,168  $    4,613,168  $   0% 22,198,079  $  20.78%

7/1/2009 -$               5,228,186  $    5,228,186  $   0% 24,177,827  $  21.63%

June 30, 2013

Post Retirement Healthcare Plan

During fiscal year 2011, the County’s postemployment healthcare plan was amended so that Subsidy A credits 
are not granted to participants who retire after March 15, 2011.  In addition, the plan was amended to create 
Subsidy C credits. 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OTHER GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
 
The County’s nonmajor governmental funds are described below: 
 

Jail Tax Fund – used to account for resources legally restricted to expenditures for building and 
maintaining a new county jail. 

 
SC Road Fund – used to account for resources legally restricted to expenditures for state and county 
road construction. 

 
CDC Tax Fund – used to account for resources legally restricted to expenditures for purchasing, 
renovating and maintaining a child developmental center (CDC). 

 
County Road Improvements Tax Fund – used to account for resources legally restricted to 
expenditures for County Road Improvements. 

 
 
The County’s nonmajor discretely presented governmental type component units are: 
 
 Museum Board  
 

 Recreation Board  
 

 Health Board  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2013

Total
County Road Nonmajor

Jail Tax SC Road CDC Tax Improvements Governmental
ASSETS Fund Fund Fund Tax Fund Funds

Cash and investments 445,466  $   2,557,517  $   3,246,668  $   51,679  $        6,301,330  $   
Due from other governments -              68,871          758,077        160,511          987,459        

Total assets 445,466  $   2,626,388  $  4,004,745  $  212,190  $      7,288,789  $  

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Warrants and vouchers payable 37,896  $     1,342  $         217,827  $     -$                257,065  $     

Total liabilities 37,896         1,342              217,827          -                  257,065          

Fund Balances
Restricted for:

Jail maintenance and operations 407,570       -                -                -                  407,570        
State and county roads -              2,625,046     -                -                  2,625,046     
CDC building -              -                3,786,918     -                  3,786,918     
County road improvements -              -                -                212,190          212,190        

407,570       2,625,046       3,786,918       212,190          7,031,724       

Total liabilities and 
fund balances 445,466  $   2,626,388  $  4,004,745  $  212,190  $      7,288,789  $  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Total
County Road Nonmajor

Jail Tax SC Road CDC Tax Improvements Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Tax Fund Funds

Revenues
  Taxes -$             -$               -$              212,190  $      212,190  $      

Intergovernmental revenues -               685,985        -               -                 685,985         
Investment income (loss) (29,517)        5,993            -               -                 (23,524)         

Total revenues (29,517)         691,978          -                 212,190          874,651           

Expenditures
Current:

Public safety 307,736       -                -               -                 307,736         
Road and bridge -               7,395            -               -                 7,395             

  Capital outlay -               -                384,369        -                 384,369         
307,736       7,395            384,369        -                 699,500         

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over

 expenditures (337,253)       684,583        (384,369)      212,190          175,151         

Fund Balance, beginning 744,823       1,940,463     4,171,287     -                 6,856,573      

Fund Balance, ending 407,570  $   2,625,046  $  3,786,918  $  212,190  $      7,031,724  $   
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
NONMAJOR DISCRETELY PRESENTED GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
June 30, 2013

Total
Nonmajor

Museum Recreation Health Component
ASSETS Board Board Board Units

Cash and investments 201,829  $      439,988  $        607,614  $      1,249,431  $     
Receivables:

Taxes and interest on taxes 252,854        476,296          1,981             731,131           
Accounts and insurance credits, net -                -                 120,888        120,888           
Grant receivable -                -                 52,846           52,846             

Prepaid items -                -                 10,340           10,340             
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 743,777        8,659,476       -                 9,403,253        
Equipment and furnishings 50,321          394,360          14,612           459,293           
Accumulated depreciation (497,628)       (7,530,715)     (4,992)            (8,033,335)       

Total assets 751,153  $     2,439,405  $    803,289  $     3,993,847  $    

LIABILITIES

Liabilities
Warrants and vouchers payable -$               8,178  $           11,251  $        19,429  $         
Accrued expenses -                5,345              13,729           19,074             
Deferred revenue 247,164        466,767          10,771           724,702           
Compensated absences:

Due within one year 9,177            38,943            59,444           107,564           

Total liabilities 256,341          519,233            95,195            870,769            

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 296,470        1,523,121       9,620             1,829,211        
Restricted 9,500            -                 -                 9,500               
Unrestricted 188,842        397,051          698,474        1,284,367        

Total net position 494,812  $      1,920,172  $     708,094  $      3,123,078  $     
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
NONMAJOR DISCRETELY PRESENTED GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Operating Capital Total Nonmajor
Charges for Grants and Grants and Museum Recreation Health Component

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Board Board Board Units

Museum Board
Health, recreation and welfare 445,666  $       3,967  $           5,672  $          22,275  $       (413,752)  $     -$                -$                (413,752)  $      

Recreation Board
Health, recreation and welfare 703,856           15,865             2,500              -                 -                  (685,491)         -                  (685,491)          

Health Board
Health, recreation and welfare 1,969,850        543,584           1,839,226       -                 -                  -                  412,960          412,960           

Total nonmajor component units 3,119,372  $    563,416  $      1,847,398  $  22,275  $      (413,752)       (685,491)       412,960        (686,283)        

General Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes 250,534          474,721          (3,031)             722,224           
Sales and other taxes 16,719            31,889            4,190              52,798             

Interest income 735                 298                 75                   1,108               
Total general revenues 267,988          506,908          1,234              776,130           

Change in net position (145,764)         (178,583)         414,194          89,847             

Net Position, beginning 640,576          2,098,755       293,900          3,033,231        

Net Position, ending 494,812  $     1,920,172  $  708,094  $     3,123,078  $   

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FUND BASIS
June 30, 2013

Mental Events Library Museum Recreation Health
ASSETS Health Complex System Board Board Board Total

Cash and investments 4,088,517  $  1,353,821  $  1,492,877  $  201,829  $  439,988  $     607,614  $     8,184,646  $    
Due from Library Foundation -                -                348,969         -             -                -                348,969           
Receivables:

Taxes and interest on taxes 713,453         1,870,210      3,116,179      252,854      476,296         1,981             6,430,973        
Accounts and insurance credits 819,449         4,470             180                -             -                120,888         944,987           
Grants -                26,244           -                -             -                52,846           79,090             

Inventories -                44,295           16,053           -             -                -                60,348             
Prepaid items 42,492           2,554             -                -             -                10,340           55,386             

Total assets 5,663,911  $  3,301,594  $  4,974,258  $  454,683  $  916,284  $     793,669  $     16,104,399  $  

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities

Warrants and vouchers payable 172,538  $     321,552  $     32,838  $       -$           8,178  $         11,251  $       546,357  $       
Accrued expenses -                46,759           44,638           -             5,345             13,729           110,471           
Deferred revenue 705,127         2,264,392      3,082,121      249,190      470,174         12,796           6,783,800        

Total liabilities 877,665         2,632,703      3,159,597      249,190      483,697         37,776           7,440,628        

Fund Balances
Nonspendable:

Inventories -                44,295           16,053           -             -                -                60,348             
Prepaid items 42,492           2,554             -                -             -                10,340           55,386             

Restricted for:
Endowment challenge program -                -                348,969         -             -                -                348,969           
Tipple building -                -                -                9,500          -                -                9,500               

Committed to:
Water plant -                -                -                -             40,000           -                40,000             

Unassigned 4,743,754      622,042         1,449,639      195,993      392,587         745,553         8,149,568        

Total fund balances 4,786,246      668,891         1,814,661      205,493      432,587         755,893         8,663,771        

Total liabilities and fund balances 5,663,911  $ 3,301,594  $ 4,974,258  $ 454,683  $  916,284  $    793,669  $    16,104,399  $ 

Nonmajor Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2013

Mental Events Library Museum Recreation Health
Health Complex System Board Board Board

Total fund balances - governmental type
component units 4,786,246  $  668,891  $     1,814,661  $  205,493  $  432,587  $     755,893  $     

Amounts reported for the govern-
mental type component unit in the
statement of net position is different
because:

Capital assets used in governmental
activities are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in
the funds. 3,644,645      9,185,852      663,434         296,470      1,523,121      9,620             

Long-term liabilities, including notes
payable, capital leases payable and
compensated absences are not due
and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in
the funds. (342,225)       (804,288)       (154,020)       (9,177)        (38,943)         (59,444)         

Some of the component unit's revenues
will be collected after year-end but are
not available soon enough to pay for
the current period's expenditures and,
therefore, are deferred in the funds. 5,152             13,095           19,620           2,026          3,407             2,025             

Net position of governmental type 
component units 8,093,818  $ 9,063,550  $ 2,343,695  $ 494,812  $  1,920,172  $ 708,094  $    

Nonmajor Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

FUND BASIS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Mental Events Library Museum Recreation Health
Health Complex System Board Board Board Total

Revenues
Taxes 714,912  $      1,982,767  $   3,287,200  $   267,291  $      506,685  $      1,575  $          6,760,430  $   
Intergovernmental 8,107,484       92,500            49,723            27,947            2,500              1,839,226       10,119,380     
Charges for services 2,400,499       1,945,627       -                  3,967              15,865            543,584          4,909,542       
Interest income 3,308              289                 11,813            735                 298                 75                   16,518            
Other income 12,741            898,927          103,141          -                  -                  -                  1,014,809       

Total revenues 11,238,944     4,920,110       3,451,877       299,940          525,348          2,384,460       22,820,679     

Expenditures
Current:

Health, recreation and welfare 9,871,122       4,080,822       3,487,768       408,851          560,170          1,969,609       20,378,342     
Capital outlay 254,896          849,606          -                  22,275            -                  -                  1,126,777       

Total expenditures 10,126,018     4,930,428       3,487,768       431,126          560,170          1,969,609       21,505,119     

Excess (deficiency) of revenue
  over expenditures 1,112,926       (10,318)           (35,891)           (131,186)         (34,822)           414,851          1,315,560       

Other Financing Sources
Proceeds from issuance of debt -                  512,000          -                  -                  -                  -                  512,000          

Net change in fund balances 1,112,926       501,682          (35,891)           (131,186)         (34,822)           414,851          1,827,560       

Fund Balances
Beginning 3,673,320       167,209          1,850,552       336,679          467,409          341,042          6,836,211       

Ending 4,786,246  $   668,891  $      1,814,661  $   205,493  $      432,587  $      755,893  $      8,663,771  $   

Nonmajor Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE  STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
OF GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Mental Events Library Museum Recreation Health
Health Complex System Board Board Board

Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental
Type Component Units 1,112,926  $      501,682  $         (35,891)  $          (131,186)  $        (34,822)  $          414,851  $         

Amounts reported for the governmental type component
units in the statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of
those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives
and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount 
by which capital purchases exceeded depreciation during
the current period. (3,747)                265,547             (43,264)              (14,540)              (138,140)            (1,461)                

The statement of activities reports a change in revenues
due to current activity in deferred revenues which is not
reported at the fund level. 118                    711                    1,053                 (38)                     (75)                     (416)                   

The liability for compensated absences is not recorded in the
fund level, but is reported in the statement of net position. 
This is the current year change in the liability. 11,388               14,300               2,341                 -                     (5,546)                1,220                 

Repayment of capital lease principal is an expenditure in the
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities in the statement of net position. This is off-set by
the total of capital leases issued during the year, if any. -                     34,978               -                     -                     -                     -                     

The long-term liability for notes payable is not recorded in
the fund level, but is reported in the statement of net position. 
This is the current year change in the liability. 139,128             (388,400)            -                     -                     -                     -                     

Change in net position of governmental
type component unit 1,259,813  $     428,818  $        (75,761)  $         (145,764)  $       (178,583)  $       414,194  $        

Nonmajor Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Federal CFDA
Number Expenditures

U.S. Department of the Interior
Payments in lieu of taxes:

Administered by Sweetwater County 15.226 3,077,940  $       

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Passed through Wyoming Department of Health

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families:
Administered by Sweetwater County Board of Health 93.558 143,817              

Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse:
Administered by Southwest Counseling Service 93.959 464,497              

Public Health Emergency Preparedness:
Administered by Sweetwater County Board of Health 93.069 138,408              

Block Grants for Community Mental Health Services:
Administered by Southwest Counseling Service 93.958 123,390              

Community Services Block Grant:
Administered by Sweetwater County 93.569 61,135                

Passed through Sweetwater County Tripartite Board
Community Services Block Grant:

Administered by Sweetwater County 93.569 68,978                
Passed through Wyoming Department of Family Services

Child Support Enforcement:
Administered by Sweetwater County 93.563 35,206                

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families:
Administered by Sweetwater County 93.558 44,896                

Community-Based Child Abuse Prevention Grants
Administered by Sweetwater County Board of Health 93.590 10,854                

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 1,091,181           

U.S. Department of Agriculture
Schools and Roads - Grants to Counties:

Administered by Sweetwater County 10.666 37,969                

National Endowment for the Arts
Passed through Wyoming Arts Council

Promotion of the Arts-Partnership Agreements:
Administered by Sweetwater County Library System 45.025 5,709                  

Promotion of the Arts-Partnership Agreements:
Administered by Sweetwater County Museum 45.025 2,500                  

Total National Endowment for the Arts 8,209                  

National Endowment for the Humanities
Passed through Wyoming Humanities Council

Promotion of the Humanities-Federal/State Partnership:
Administered by Sweetwater County Museum 45.129 1,500                  

Continued
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS (Continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013

Federal CFDA
Number Expenditures

U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed through Wyoming Department of Transportation

Alcohol Open Container Requirements:
Administered by Sweetwater County 20.607 12,179  $            

Highway Planning and Construction:
Administered by Sweetwater County 20.205 355,816              

Passed through Wyoming Association of Sheriffs and Chiefs of Police:
Highway Safety Cluster:

State and Community Highway Safety:
Administered by Sweetwater County 20.600 6,900                  

Alcohol Impaired Driving Countermeasures Incentives Grants I:
Administered by Sweetwater County 20.601 13,025                

Total Highway Safety Cluster 19,925                
Passed through Wyoming-Office of Homeland Security:

Interagency Hazardous Materials Public Sector Training
and Planning Grants:
Administered by Sweetwater County 20.703 529                     

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 388,449              

U.S. Department of Justice
Passed through Wyoming Department of Family Services

Juvenile Accountability Block Grants:
Administered by Sweetwater County 16.523 20,940                

Passed through Volunteers of America Northern Rockies
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention - Allocation to States:

Administered by Sweetwater County 16.540 50,818                
Passed through Wyoming Division of Criminal Investigation

JAG Program Cluster:
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program

Administered by Sweetwater County 16.738 516                     
Recovery Act - Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program

Administered by Sweetwater County ARRA-16.803 92,542                
Total JAG Program Cluster 93,058                

Total U.S. Department of Justice 164,816              

Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP)
Passed through Wyoming Division of Criminal Investigation

High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area (HIDTA) Program:
Administered by Sweetwater County 95.001 89,343                

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Passed through Wyoming-Office of Homeland Security

Homeland Security Grant Program:
Administered by Sweetwater County 97.067 206,331              

Total expenditures of Federal awards 5,065,738  $      
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Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The following information regarding the schedule of expenditures of Federal awards is provided to assist 
the reader in understanding the accounting policies regarding, and the nature of, the Federal awards. 
 
Basis of accounting:  The schedule of expenditures of Federal awards is prepared on the cash basis of 
accounting, which is generally utilized by the County for Federal reporting purposes, whereby 
expenditures are reported when paid. 
 
The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, 
Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.  Therefore, some of the amounts presented in this 
schedule may differ from their presentation in the financial statements. 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND 
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Board of County Commissioners 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
Green River, Wyoming 
 
We have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of Sweetwater County, Wyoming (the “County”) as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County’s 
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated January 16, 2014.  Our report 
includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financials statements of Memorial Hospital of 
Sweetwater County (the “Hospital”), as described in our report on the County’s financial statements.  
This report does not include the results of the other auditor’s testing of internal control over financial 
reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors.  

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the County’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control.  

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that were not identified.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  We did identify certain deficiencies in internal 
control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2013-001 and 
2013-002, that we consider to be significant deficiencies.   
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the County’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed an instance of noncompliance or other matter that is required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards and which is described in the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs as item 2013-003. 

The County’s Response to Findings 

The County’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings and questioned costs.  The County’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.  

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Cheyenne, Wyoming 
January 16, 2014 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH 

REQUIREMENTS THAT COULD HAVE A DIRECT AND 
MATERIAL EFFECT ON EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND 

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133 

 
 
 
Board of County Commissioners 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
Green River, Wyoming 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Sweetwater County, Wyoming’s (the “County”) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have a 
direct and material effect on each of the County’s major Federal programs for the year ended June 30, 
2013.  The County’s major Federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of 
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

The County’s basic financial statements include the operations of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County, a component unit.  Our audit, described below, did not include the operations of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County because those financial statements were audited by other auditors. 

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to its Federal programs.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the County’s major Federal 
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted 
our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.  Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major Federal 
program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the County’s compliance 
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances.   

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
Federal program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the County’s compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, the County complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major Federal programs for the 
year ended June 30, 2013.  
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance  

Management of the County is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the County’s internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major Federal program to determine the 
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance for each major Federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the County’s internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
Federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a Federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a Federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
OMB Circular A-133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Cheyenne, Wyoming 
January 16, 2014 
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I. SUMMARY OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S RESULTS 
 

A. Financial Statements 
 

Type of auditor’s report issued:   Unmodified 
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
 
 Material weaknesses identified?                  Yes       X      No 
 Significant deficiencies identified that are  

not considered to be material weaknesses?       X      Yes               None reported 
 
Noncompliance material to financial  
   statements noted?                    Yes       X      No 
 

B. Federal Awards 
 

Internal control over major programs: 
 

 Material weaknesses identified?                  Yes       X      No 
 Significant deficiencies identified that are  

not considered to be material weaknesses?                 Yes       X      None reported 
 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs:  Unmodified 
 

 Any audit findings disclosed that are 
required to be reported in accordance 
with Section 510(a) of Circular A-133?                 Yes        X      No 

 
Identification of major programs: 

 
CFDA 

Numbers 
Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

  

15.226 Payments in Lieu of Taxes 
20.205 Highway Planning and Construction 
93.959 Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse 
97.067 Homeland Security Grant Program 

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
    Type A and Type B programs:   $  300,000   
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?                 Yes       X      No 
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II. FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS  
 

2013-001:  Audit Adjustments 
 
Condition:  As part of our audit, significant adjustments were proposed and recorded in order to 
properly state the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).  
 
Criteria:  Under professional standards, the control deficiency exists as County personnel did not 
identify the adjusting journal entries, which were significant to the County’s financial statements 
prepared in accordance with GAAP.    
 
Cause:  The County recently hired an Accounting Manager with experience in financial 
statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. However, due to time limitations expressed by 
the Accounting Manager in preparing the financial statements for the audit, all necessary 
adjustments were not identified.  
 
Effect:  Significant adjustments identified during the audit included, but were not limited to: 

 Adjustments made to pooled cash. 

 Properly recording additions, donated land, and trade-ins of equipment. 

 Accruing accounts payable and other liabilities.  

 Recording new capital lease under modified accrual basis.  
 
Recommendation:  We recommend the County establish policies and procedures to ensure that 
complete and accurate information is available in a timely manner to properly record 
transactions in accordance with GAAP.  These policies and procedures would include processes 
to ensure that all financial statement balances are properly supported by accurate records, 
balances are adjusted to the proper amounts, and reconciliations are performed as necessary. 
 
Auditee response:  The Accounting Manager will be involved in establishing policies and 
procedures to ensure that complete and accurate information is available to properly record 
transactions in accordance with GAAP. 
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2013-002:  Segregation of Duties 
 
Condition:  We noted several instances where there was not an adequate segregation of duties 
throughout the entire period under audit.  At the County, we noted that one individual had 
authority to write checks and post journal entries for approximately the first half of fiscal year 
2013. Several employees also had access to the check printer, check stock, printed checks and 
the payroll and accounts payable system for approximately the same period of time.  The 
purchasing department had the authority to authorize and create new vendors within the 
accounting system, enter invoices, and authorize all disposals. We also noted that several 
employees had the ability to request goods or services and also had the ability to approve the 
payment of those same goods or services during the first half of fiscal year 2013.  Finally, we did 
note that these aforementioned segregation of duties issues were resolved by the County during 
the second half of fiscal year 2013. 
 
At the component unit level, we noted a segregation of duties issue as well.  The Sweetwater 
County Museum and Sweetwater County Recreation Board are not large enough to permit an 
adequate segregation of duties for an effective system of internal accounting control in all 
respects.   
 
Criteria:  Internal controls are designed to safeguard assets and help prevent loss from employee 
dishonesty or error.  A fundamental concept in an adequate system of internal control is the 
segregation of duties.   
 
Cause:  The concentration of closely related duties and responsibilities by a small staff makes it 
difficult to establish an adequate system of internal checks on the accuracy and reliability of the 
accounting records.  While we recognize the Museum and Recreation Board are not large 
enough to permit a segregation of duties for an effective system of internal accounting control, 
we believe that it is important that officials be aware that the condition does exist.  
 
Effect:  Without properly designed internal control systems, the County could be susceptible to 
misappropriation of assets (theft of money) and/or inaccurate financial reporting.     
 
Recommendation:  As mentioned above, we recognize the efforts the County made during the 
second half of fiscal year 2013 to resolve the segregation of duties deficiencies within the 
primary government by revising and/or establishing new internal control policies and 
procedures.  However, we recommend that internal control policies and procedures at both the 
County and component units be continually scrutinized to ensure that proper segregation is 
obtained when possible. 
 
Auditee response:  The County received a segregation of duties finding on January 29, 2103 in 
the fiscal year 2012 audit report and immediately took corrective action to remedy the finding.  
The County has also been working on implementing a new accounting system and has built 
internal controls within the design of the accounting system.  The County will continue to 
analyze the procedures in place for the Sweetwater County Museum and the Sweetwater County 
Recreation Board to determine if procedures can be more properly segregated within these 
component units. 
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2013-003:  Collateralization of Deposits 
 
Condition:  As of June 30, 2013, the County was under collateralized by $109,540 within their 
account at Commerce Bank.  
 
Criteria:  The County is required by Wyoming State Statute to maintain collateral on its 
depository balances which exceed Federal depository insurance limits.   
 
Cause:  The County does have a system in place to periodically monitor collateral levels 
provided by the bank.  However, in this instance the under-collateralized balance was not 
identified by the County or resolved in a timely manner. 
 
Effect:  Should the financial institution utilized by the County fail, any funds which are over the 
Federal deposit insurance limits could be lost unless they are appropriately collateralized.   
 
Recommendation:  We recommend the County implement procedures to ensure that their 
depository balances are adequately collateralized at all times. 
 
Auditee response:  The environment that created this finding was unprecedented.  The financial 
institution holding the under-collateralized deposits failed to meet the County’s statutory 
requirements.  To resolve the above finding, the County Treasurer will more closely monitor 
rates to more successfully predict effects on collateralization, require additional monthly 
statements during times of extreme market volatility, and continue consistent dialogue with bank 
administration to improve communication and concerns with respect to collateralization. 
 

 
III. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS 
 

None 
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There were no Federal audit findings in the prior year. 
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Board of County Commissioners
Public Hearing Agenda

January 21, 2014
County Commissioner’s Meeting Room

80 West Flaming Gorge Way
Green River, WY  82935

1. Snelson Companies, Inc. / Bruce K. Mandros
Conditional Use Permit
Temporary Construction Yard

2. Robert Wayne Moses / Ranch Hand Welding & Fabrication
Conditional Use Permit
Welding and Fabrication

Public Hearing



Public Hearing #  

Summary of Application 

Property Owner 

Other Parties 

Legal Description 

Current Zoning 

Legal Requirements 
Adjacent Notices Sent: 

Public Hearing Advertised: 

Sign Posted: 

Utilities & Districts 

Water: 
Sewer: 
Others: 

Land Use Presenter 

1
Board of County Commissioners 

January 21, 2014

Bruce K. Mandros
2025 East Teton

Green River, WY 82935

Snelson Companies, Inc.
601 West State Street

Sedro Woolley, WA 98284

Parkview Subdivision
Tract 3

5108 Highway 374
Green River, WY 82935

C (General Commercial)

December 6, 2013

December 6, 2013

December 6, 2013

Jamestown

Steve Horton
Planner III

(307) 872-3926

Snelson Companies / Bruce Mandros 
Conditional Use Permit 

Temporary Construction Yard

Snelson Companies and Bruce Mandros are requesting a Conditional
Use Permit for a Temporary Construction Yard for a 2 year term. This a
renewal of an existing Conditional Use Permit which was approved for a
5 year term and expires January 6, 2014. The site is Track 3 – Parkview
Subdivision being a 14.45 acre parcel. The property is Zoned C (General
Commercial). Temporary office and storage trailers are proposed for
use. Above ground fuel storage tanks are proposed to be utilized. Sewer
is not available and will be handled by porta-potties. There is no
proposed screening of the site. However, earthen berms have been built
on the southern and western portions of the yard. Dust control will be
provided for by tanker water truck. Fire protection is provided by fire
hydrant located just east of the site. Access is from Hwy 373
Jamestown Road. The area to be used for parking is graveled.
There have not been any problems with the Snelson Construction Yard
over the past 5 years.
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Staff Comments, Recommendations and Conditions: 

Agency Comments: 
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1
Snelson Companies / Bruce Mandros 

Conditional Use Permit 

There have been no public comments submitted as of the date of this report.

SWC Surveyor: Recommend approval.
WYDOT: A commercial access permit currently exists and a revised permit is not required. WYDOT has no other
comments and no objections for this proposal.
SWC Public Works Director: No objections to this request. Must comply with all local, state and federal regulations.
Colorado Interstate Gas Company - CIG has no facilities in the immediate area, thus we have no concerns.

Snelson Companies has operated a Conditional Use Permit - Temporary Construction Yard on this site for the past 5
years. There have not been any problems or complaints with the operation.
Staff recommends approval of this Conditional Use Permit for Temporary Construction Yard for a 2 year term.
On January 8, 2014, the Planning & Zoning Commission voted 5-0 to recommend approval of the the Snelson
Companies / Bruce Mandros Conditional Use Permit for a Temporary Construction Yard for a 2 year term.



Public Hearing # 1
Snelson Companies / Bruce Mandros 

Conditional Use Permit 





PZ 13-023 
PID# 04-1807-07-1-01-012-00 

Recommendation 14-01-ZO-01 January 8, 2014 
Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION 14-01-ZO-01 
 

SNELSON COMPANIES, INC. 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 

TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION YARD 
 

WHEREAS, Snelson Companies, Inc. has requested a Conditional Use Permit for a Temporary 
Construction Yard in accordance with Section 6 of the Sweetwater County Zoning Resolution on 
an approximately 14.45 acre parcel of land owned by Bruce K. Mandros and described as: 
 

Parkview Subdivision, Tract 3, Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
 
WHEREAS, the Sweetwater County Board of County Commissioners held a public hearing in 
regards to this matter on January 21, 2014 and has given due consideration to the 
recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and to all the evidence and testimony 
presented at the hearing. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the applicant’s request be APPROVED for a period 
of 2 years. 
 
Dated this 21st day of January, 2014. 
 
        Sweetwater County 
        Board of County Commissioners 
 
 
        _________________________ 
        Wally J. Johnson, Chairman 
 
 
        _________________________ 
        Gary Bailiff, Member 
 
 
        _________________________ 
        John K. Kolb, Member 
 
 
        _________________________ 
Attest:        Don Van Matre, Member 
 
 
___________________________    _________________________ 
Steven Dale Davis, County Clerk    Reid O. West, Member 
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2
Board of County Commissioners 

January 21, 2014

Neva LaRue Moses Living
Trust & Robert & Tammy

Family Trust
1516 Collins Street

Rock Springs, WY 82901

Robert Moses (Applicant)
Ranch Hand Welding &

Fabrication (Lessee)

Mountainaire Subdivision
2nd Filing, Block 4, Lot 8
1941 Yellowstone Road

Rock Springs, WY 82901

C (General Commercial)

December 6, 2013

December 6, 2013

White Mountain
White Mountain
Fire District 1

Steve Horton
Planner III

(307) 872-3926

Robert Moses / Ranch Hand Welding 
Conditional Use Permit 

Welding and Fabrication

Robert Wayne Moses is requesting Conditional Use Permit approval for
Welding & Fabrication. The proposed location is 1941 Yellowstone
Road, being Lot 8 Block 4 of Mountainaire Subdivision 2nd. The property
is a 2 acre lot zoned C (General Commercial). The name of the business
leasing this site is Ranch Hand Welding & Fabrication. There is a
pre-fabricated metal building on the site 5,345 square feet in size. Water
and sewer is provided by White Mountain Water & Sewer District. The
site is fenced with the rear of the lot abutting Cathedral Drive. The site
plan has a superimposed aerial photo of the property and shows pipe
storage on the rear 2/3 of the lot. Pipe is not stored on the property at
the current time. Access to the site is from Yellowstone Road. This
Conditional Use Permit for Welding and Fabrication is proposed for a 4
year term.
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Public Comments: 

Staff Comments, Recommendations and Conditions: 
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2
Robert Moses / Ranch Hand Welding 

Conditional Use Permit 

There have been no public comments submitted as of the date of this report.

SWC Surveyor: Recommend approval.
WYDOT: No objections/no comments for the Moses/Ranch Hand Welding & Fabrication CUP.
City of Rock Springs: Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this Conditional Use Permit request. The City of
Rock Springs has reviewed this proposal and has the following comments: 1) The City of Rock Springs does not
support industrial uses such as Welding & Fabrication in Commercial - zoned districts; 2) The City of Rock Springs
permits Welding & Fabrication to take place only in districts which are zoned Light Industrial (I-1) or Heavy Industrial
(I-2).
SWC Code Enforcement Specialist: This new use of this building requires a 2012 IFC Inspection.
SWC Public Works Director: No objection to this request. Must comply with all local, state and federal regulations.
Colorado Interstate Gas Company - CIG has no facilities in the immediate area, thus we have no concerns.

A Conditional Use Permit for Welding & Fabrication was recently approved for a nearby property and there have
been no complaints. Mining and drilling businesses have been established in this area for many years, without
problems. The proposed use appears to be compatible with this location.
Staff recommends approval of this Conditional Use Permit request for Welding and Fabrication for a term of 4 years.
On January 8, 2014, the Planning & Zoning Commission voted 5-0 to recommend approval of the Robert Moses /
Ranch Hand Welding Conditional Use Permit for Welding and Fabrication for a 4 year term.



Public Hearing # 2
Robert Moses / Ranch Hand Welding 

Conditional Use Permit 





PZ 13-024 
PID# 04-1905-09-1-01-017-00 

Recommendation 14-01-ZO-02 January 8, 2014 
Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION 14-01-ZO-02 
 

ROBERT WAYNE MOSES / RANCH HAND WELDING & FABRICATION 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 

WELDING AND FABRICATION 
 

WHEREAS, Robert Wayne Moses / Ranch Hand Welding & Fabrication has requested a 
Conditional Use Permit for welding and fabrication in accordance with Section 6 of the 
Sweetwater County Zoning Resolution on an approximately 2 acre parcel of land owned by 
Neva LaRue Moses Living Trust and described as: 
 

Mountainaire Subdivision, 2nd Filing, Block 4, Lot 8, Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
 
WHEREAS, the Sweetwater County Board of County Commissioners held a public hearing in 
regards to this matter on January 21, 2014 and has given due consideration to the 
recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and to all the evidence and testimony 
presented at the hearing. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the applicant’s request be APPROVED for a period 
of 4 years. 
 
Dated this 21st day of January, 2014. 
 
        Sweetwater County 
        Board of County Commissioners 
 
 
        _________________________ 
        Wally J. Johnson, Chairman 
 
 
        _________________________ 
        Gary Bailiff, Member 
 
 
        _________________________ 
        John K. Kolb, Member 
 
 
        _________________________ 
Attest:        Don Van Matre, Member 
 
 
___________________________    _________________________ 
Steven Dale Davis, County Clerk    Reid O. West, Member 
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